 REL Notes—Arlington 
Primary Sources
George WP Custis to “Maggy” Fitzhugh, “The 23rd” [c. 1802], MCL-VHS

--building Arlington/ making brick

“I shall begin making Brick once more Monday--& if I have tolerable luck hope our Castle will be inished by the middle of September.”

Rosalie Stier Calvert to Mme. HJ Stier, Riversdale, 28 June, 1803 in LXXIII Callicott, ed.  Mistress of Riversdale
--family interest in gardens

53/  “When I walk in the garden, each tree and rose planted by your own hand is of interest to me, and I take pleasure in watching them grow and caring for them.”

Rosalie Stier Calvert to Mme. HJ Stier, Riversdale, 29 December 1803, in LXXIII Callicott, ed.  Mistress of Riversdale

--building Arlington House

70/  “Custis has finished a wing of his building ,which will be very handsome and will be seen from all points of Washington.” 

Cornelia Lee to Mrs. Richard Bland Lee, Bellevue, 13 April 1804, EA-LC

--Arlington 1804

“On Tuesday we paid Mr. Custis a morning visit—it is a lovely situation the prospect is diversified and extensive.  Washington Craik came out just before we set off and we took him in the carriage with us it appeared to please him very much.  Mr. Custis was out when we arrived although he had invited us the Sunday before, he came in the greatest figure you ever beheld he had been busily employed caulking a Boat not altogether a suitable employment however he gave us a very friendly reception and treated us with a glass of excellent Wine, no eatables.  The House will be a very showy handsome building when completed the room we were in was 24 feet Square and 18 high, we found the road much worse than I expected [unreadable] returned home about 2 P.m. in the evening.”

CCL--“My Boyhood”, n.d. [post war, c. 1866]—CCL-UVa or microfilm reel 9 LoV
--Food at Arlington/ Mount Vernon
52/  “I thought that the dinners at Arlington & Ravensworth were good enough for any boy; but Mr. Custis told me that the old Mount Vernon cook used to tell him while they would console with each other over the degeneracy of dinners—‘Massa Washington, we can’t hab dinners no like de old time dinners, sir.  De fires ain’t big enough to cook
‘em’. ”    

George WP Custis, Merchant account with Cornelius McLean, March 25, 1805,

--building Arlington, carpentry

See in notebook for account which includes debits for flooring, shingles, molding, cut cornices, fine carpenter work such as making balusters, fixing gutters, removing shingles on top of cornice, making sure all balusters are level, 128 balusters fixed, a hedge door, 20 steps to stairs.  Circular rail of Balustory and ramps—setting windows; 14 circular sashes fixed, 4 pair sashes fitted in—setting chimneys, jambs, joists, cutting out door, doing brick work, etc.  Total cost &692.70 (got a discount of $124. 48, so paid $563.22)  

Rosalie Stier Calvert to HJ Stier, Riversdale, 9 June 1809, in LXXIII Callicott, ed.  Mistress of Riversdale

--Arlington sheep shearing

206/  “The other day my husband went to a ‘sheep shearing’ sponsored by Mr. Custis, who is still giving prizes….There were more than 100 people present, [and] a very well-provisioned table set on the banks of the Potomac, under a pretty tent 70 feet long, adorned on the inside with garlands of laurel.  All the guests were asked to come dressed in American-made clothes.  The wine had been made in Virginia, as were all the beverages—apple brandy, peach brandy, whisky, &c.  It was a completely patriotic fête.” 

Rosalie Stier Calvert to Charles J. Stier, 23 July 1810  in LXXIII Callicott, ed.  Mistress of Riversdale

--Washington and Alexandria 1810

222/  “You have no idea how this country has improved since you left.  We have all the luxury of Europe and have lost that simplicity which was worth far more.  In the towns the change is astonishing.  An excellent bridge has been made over the Potomac facing the Capitol which shortens the distance to Alexandria considerably.  That town does not prosper.”

GWP Custis to Dearest Mary [MFC], Arlington House, 4th Sept [1810], MCL-VHS

--building Arlington/ refurbishing/ plans to tear down N wind

“I shall get about the partition for Mary & Lettys rooms today the same being completely floored & in the best manner I had all floors made of the light sort so as to allow their being washed this has taken something longer, but is far best in the end—Their rooms will be plastered this week & as soon as dry shall remove them into them.  I shall then proceed to take down the N Wing immediately—yr forbearance in respect to that building has been sufficiently great but you shall find it ready for you in Octr….” 

GWP Custis to Dearest Mary [MFC], Arlington House, 4th Sept [1810], MCL-VHS

--garden:  asparagus/quince

Speaks of laying out the garden.

“I have removed a world of earth…I think of employing Johnson for a month or two…to fix up matters in our new gardens to attend to the removal of the trees  shrubs etc. to make you a Sett of Asperagus [sic] beds in the Kitchen garden…I have bought you some fine quinces to preserve….”

GWP Custis to Dearest Wife [MFC], Arlington House, 18th Sept 1811, MCL-VHS

--renovating Arlington/kitchen garden/ N Wing/cellar

“In consequence of the disappointment of 4 different workmen, 2 have been unable as yet to take down the N Wing; but upon examination I find that I can alter it, with very little trouble & without taking down the chimeneys [sic]which are the most material part….I can easily fix the kitchen garden as there will be no earth to remove only t o be ploughed up & laid off in walks….I have cleaned out and am white washing yr cellar which I am sure you will think an improvement.” 

[Ann Randolph Page] to MFC, n.d. [post 1812], MCl-VHS

-- cherries on property
“If you can contrive me some dried Cherries or any acid fruit, I should be greatly assisted by it—cherries, do me most good….”

J. Ford to GWP Custis, Stafford Courthouse, Feb 6th 1813, MCL-VHS
--GWPC interested in stone steps

“I am at at present engaged in Quarrying  free stone; but I can have the steps delivered to you at $7 p ton[?] of 15 solid feet.  A step 7 feet long—18 inches wide & 3 inches thick will cost you in the rough state $3.50/100—If you wish them furnished to you upon these terms, be good enough to inform of the number & dimensions & I will speak Mr Settle for them & have them sent by the first conveyance.  I will take care that the stone shall be of the best quality.”

Rosalie Stier Calvert to Isabella de Havre, Riversdale, 25 October 1816 in in LXXIII Callicott, ed.,  Mistress of Riversdale
--job of plantation mistress

304/  “You have no idea of the multiplicity of my tasks…you know what attentions a numerous family and a house as large as ours demand.  Also our servants are not like yours—they have to be supervised constantly.  If a cask of wine has to be bottled, it is I who must preside.  I must inspect the see that my carriage and horses are taken care of as they ought to be.  I must completely supervise my garden….” 

M[ary] W[ilson] M[eade] to MFC, Mountain View, Nov. 22, 1816, MCL-VHS (7)

--Arlington flower garden/primrose

“I wish you would set a bunch of your Polyanthuses in a box for me….”

GWP C[ustis] to Dearest Wife [MFC], Arlington House, 20th August 1822, MCL-VHS 

--refurbishing Arlington/ blinds 

“…your blinds are hung & rooms almost ready….”

GWP C[ustis] to Dearest Wife [MFC], n.d. [c. 1822], MCL-VHS

--refurbishing Arlington/spring house/vegetable garden

“The spring house has been enlarged & finished some time—It forms a delightful place to keep butter & vegetables for the market, and it is remarked that no vegetables are sent to the market in finer order than mine.”  

Lucy R Mason to Mary B Carter, Oct 29th 1822, SPP-RL

--benevolent influence of MFC (and love of Arlington)

“I never expect to go any where again, but to Arlington; and there I will go, as it is so near, and besides is the residence of a second mother to me.”

Alexandria Gazette, October 14, 1824

--reception given to Lafayette

Was met at the bridge, with a salute of 15 guns on the approach; met by at least nine marshals, citizens and bands; squadron of Cavalry, Companies of Artillery; met by juvenile corps, REL junior marshal;  William F. Thornton  was chief marshal

Alexandria Gazette, October 16, 1824

--reception given to Lafayette
Carriages and horses banned from the streets; ladies area was reserved on Royal street between King and Cameron

Alexandria Gazette, October 19, 1824

--reception given to Lafayette
Beautiful day—slight rain the day before had laid the dust; parade escorts of cavalry Etc plus several volunteer companies from DC and Georgetown:  “Whole was closed by a Cavalcade of Citizens”; official party went through a grand arch at 3 o’clock topped by a  “real mountain eagle” which “spread his wings and showed to much advantage”; two smaller arches over the side pavement representing Peace and Plenty.  “Nothing on paper can give a proper idea of the beauty of the whole.”—Toasts given to many founders—Henry Lee conspicuously absent from list.

Alexandria Gazette, December 16, 1824 (p. 3)
--flying visit of Lafayette to Alexandria, Arlington, dinner with Mrs. Lee 
“General La Fayette with his son, and Mr. La Vasseur, paid us a flying visit, on Tuesday, on his route from Mount Vernon to Washington.  He arrived in town about two o’clock—just an hour with the Major, dined with Mrs. Lee and proceeded to Arlington (Washington) the same evening.”

GW Lafayette to GWPC, Washington City, January the third, 1825 in CCCXXI Custis, Memoirs of Washington
--Lafayette at Arlington

67/  “My father being able to dispose of himself on Wednesday, will do himself the pleasure of going that day to dine at Arlington.  It is so long since I wished for that satisfaction myself, that I most sincerely rejoice at the anticipation of it.”

RR Gurley to MFC, Office of the Col Soc Washington, Sept 7, 1825, MCL-VHS

--Lafayette at Arlington

House illuminated for celebration of last evening in US:  “…the effect was fine & seemed I doubt not, to the good general like the affectionate smile of our country’s genius upon the melancholy of his regretted departure.”

 See book Chapter 3 “Torchbearers” for text of this letter
Sarah W. Page to MARC, Nov. 5th 1827, DSF-LC

--chrysanthemums at Arlington

“I should like to see your Chrysanthemums very much there are a few very pretty ones at Page-brook.”

M[ary] M[eade] to MFC, n.d. [early summer pre-1830; mentions William Henry Fitzhugh, who died that year], MCL-VHS

--Arlington gardens/hyacinth, wall flower, double larkspur/primrose, sweet William/lychnis

“Many thanks for the Hyacinth & Polyanthus roots—I hope they will succeed, particularly the latter.  I send the Wall flower seed you wished, & two or three other papers the double Larkspur, sweet Wm.  Bill says is very beautiful, & the Lynchnis [Rose campion] I think pretty, besides its blooming very late.  I believe we might gather some now.”  

GWPC to CCL, Arlington House, 1st Jany 1831, CL-LC

--Lee brothers interaction with Arlington

Chatty familiar letter to CCL notes “Your Brother Smith will be here today on his return from convaying [sic] Sister Maria to Eastern Shore.”  Signs with “Affectionat esteem of your Friend & Sevt.”

MCL to MFC, “Saturday”, n.d. [c. 1831], LFP-VHS

--Custis family pets

“How is poor old Tommy & Poll?”

n.b:  “Tommy” was generic name for all Custis family cats; Poll was a parrot, symbol of the Custises, seen in a 1832 portrait of MCL by Herveau  

E[liza] P. Custis to GWP Custis,  Sunday 15th, n.d. [pre-1831], MCL (d) Papers, VHS

-- Trumbull Portrait of Martha Washington at Arlington

“our good Billy & his Son Custis go to your house, & carry my beloved picture to your care.  I beg you will let them both assist you to hang it up in your house—I commit it to your most watchful care my dear Brother   it is in danger of further crazy but nothing can be done      Col Trumbull varnishd  it—& says it must not have more—no one must copy this picture but I mentioned this point before—I beg you to order that when the room is swept the windows may be open to have as little dust as possible—I do not know if the place between the windows, or over the door will be best but my good Billy will consult with you—you will keep this dear Legacy of our blessed Grand mother…in case of my death you will keep it till yours.  I shall leave directions what is to be done with it afterwards….”   

CCL to BHH, New York, Jany 14th 1831, CCL-UVa; microfilm CCL-LoV

--Smith Lee makes Arlington his headquarters/ Custis plays

“Smith still makes Arlington his headquarters, as I learn from a letter from Custis, which I received the other day, full of thanks for a play-bill & an account I sent him of his ‘favourite drama’ Pocahontas or the Settlers of Virginia.  It was performed at the Park here & went off very well, to the author’s great delight.”

CCL to BHH, April 20th 1831, CCL-UVa; microfilm CCL-LoV

--Lees present at Arlington and Woodlawn with Lafayette

“If you see Genl Lafayette and George present me to them with vivid recollections of the few days we passed together at Woodlawn & Arlington.”
CCL to BHH, Arlington, March 12th 1832,  CCL-UVa; microfilm CCL-LoV

--CCL staying at Arlington

Notes that he is camped at Arlington

REL to MCL, Old Point, 24th April 1832, GBL-VHS

--REL’s quip about Arlington

Calls it “…a House that any one might see with half an eye.”

REL to MCL, Old Point, April 24, 1832, GBL-VHS

--REL on living at Arlington

“You seem to think mostly you would prefer living as we are, but are you right in this.  We ought not to give others the trouble of providing for us always, and besides as I can see how we might inconvenience & be a restraint upon them I can also see how we can be more pleasantly situated by ourselves.  By this means we can escape company that might not be agreeable (and I have had some examples this spring) & always have our friends when we choose without fearing they may be in the way of others.” 

REL to CCL, Old Point, Augt 19th 1832, REL-UVa

--Lee family staying at Arlington

Notes that Smith and sister Anne are both at Arlington

MCL to MFC, Old Point, “Friday”, n.d. [1833], REL-DU

--food from Arlington 
 “…ask Nurse if she put up any artichokes for me.  I do not mention them because I want them but to satisfy myself that they were not lost, s they have not come to hand.  I find a good supply of carrots & apples in the barrel with  the hams.”

Elizabeth Carter Turner to MFC, Kinloch, May 26th 1833, GBL-VHS

--Garden flowers at Arlington

Mentions gift of anemones and a “Tennessee rose” from the Arlington gardens

George WP Custis to Dearest Wife & daughter [MFC and MCL], Arlington House, 19th July, 1833, MCL-VHS

--garden vegetables/potatoes/tomatoes/cucumbers/cabbage

“Things sell very low, Potatoes from 50 to 40 cents, the bushell [sic]—Tomatoes have done well 16 to 12 ½ cts per doz.  They rot very fast.  Cucumbers 6 to 3 cts per dozen.  We have planted a fall crop of Potatoes & have a great many cabbages, but they have not thriven this season—”

George WP Custis to Dearest Wife [MFC], Arlington House, 3 Sept, 1833, MCL-VHS

--garden vegetables/sweet potatoes

“Vegetables in consequence of drought are selling better than they did…our first sweet potatoes 1.50 now 1$ per bushel [sic]. 
George WP Custis to Dearest Wife [MFC], Arlington House, 21st Sept, 1833, MCL-VHS

--garden vegetables/Brussels sprouts/early cabbage

“We are getting on as well as we can in the garden, after such an excessive draught of 50 days, and are having a large crop of Brussels sprouts for early greens, and shall plant a very extensive crop of early cabbage.”

REL to CCL, Engr: Dept:  24th February 1835, REL-UVa

--REL camped at Arlington while working in DC

Says tried to find a house in town but could not afford it ; boards in Washington; spends evenings at Arlington; often on call

REL to Capt. A[ndrew] Talcott, Engr Dept, Wash 18th Nov 1835, Talcott Family Papers, VHS

--dining at Arlington:  breakfast: partridge, buckwheat muffins/ dinner: pheasant/ chicken  

“Mary gets better & better every day.  She can now sit up & has lost all soreness pain &c but is still very weak.  Her appetite is famous & the Partridges, Buckwheat muffins &c disappear at breakfast as fast as the Pheasants, chickens &c at dinner.  She often wishes that Mrs. H. could give some directions in their cooking….” 

REL to Capt. A. Talcott, Washington, 5th May 1836, Talcott Family Papers, VHS

--REL on Arlington in the spring/love of daughter
“The country looks very sweet now, and the hill at Arlington covered with verdure, and perfumed by the blossoms of the trees, the flowers of the garden, Honeysuckles, yellow Jasmine &c. is more to my taste than at any other season of the year.  But the brightest flower there blooming is my daughter.  Oh, she is a rare one, and if only sweet sixteen, I would wish myself a Cannibal that I might eat her up.  As it is, I have given all the young ladies a holy day and hurry home to her every day.”

Julia C. Stuart to MCL, Cedar Grove, May 15th 1835, Custis, Lee, Mason Family Papers, LoV

--flower garden at Arlington/ Cherokee Rose
I wish while you are gardening you would raise me some young roses or any pretty flowers you always have so many pretty varieties of flowers at Arlington, have you not the Cherokee Rose?  If you have and it is not too much trouble I wish you would raise me one of that—I have heard it was beautiful.”

MFC to MCL, Woodlawn, November 26th [1838; letter addressed to St Louis], Custis, Lee, Mason Family Papers, LoV

--Arlington is cold

“I think Woodlawn is a colder house than home if possible—This immense room over the parlor although a bright Sun is shining into it and a tolerable fire is as cold as you can imagine—” 

MCL to Mrs. A[ndrew] Talcott [Harriett Hackley Talcott], St. Louis, January 1st, 1839, Talcott Papers-VHS

--MCL wants to be at Arlington

“This is quite a large place & I have found some very kind & agreeable people but I am getting too old to form new friends & would rather be among those I know & love.” 

George WP Custis to Dearest Wife [MFC], Arlington House, August 31st 1839 , MCL-VHS

--garden vegetables/cabbage/peppers/eggplant

“The rains have forced everything out of its proper season.  A great cabbage that would [?] 5 or 6 men, white & hard, we sell for 2 cents glad to get 3.  Peppers 4$ per thousand  egg plants a cent a piece.”  Also mentions enclosing park with chestnut rails.
MCL to Sarah Beaumont, Arlington, October 28 [1839?], LFP-BLC

--gardens at Arlington/roses/ dahlias/chrysanthemums 
“The garden is full of roses Dahlias & Chrysanthemums & the forest trees are dyed with the most beautiful hues & the air is soft & balmy.  You should come here to ram over the woods & father nests with the children for I am too old for such juvenilities.”

REL to MFC, St. Louis, Nov. 7, 1839, DE-LC

--difficulties of moving to St. Louis/expense of keeping up Arlington
Speaking of moving wife and children to St. Louis:  “Says he had “thought much on the subject of our coming out here –and have yet seen no ‘impropriety’ in the step but on the contrary it has appeared to me highly proper to be as much as possible with my wife and children”  Says life would be simpler if “we would locate ourselves at Arlington…I do see much that is disagreeable in this measure and the most so is that of parting from you & the major, and all our dear relatives and friends in Virga.  I never expect to be so happy as while among you, nor can we think of finding even substitutes for any portion of you in any part of the country that we may be called to. But we cannot live where we please, if we could and you would permit it we would locate ourselves at Arlington, and I would have $20,000 a year to put everything in apple-pie order and make us all comfortable.”  
MCL to Sarah Beaumont, Arlington, December 17th 1839, LFP-BLC

--dilapidated conditions at Arlington

“We have a very deep snow, but our sleigh as usual being out of order we have not been able to enjoy, as before we get it fixed the snow will be all gone—” 

MCL to Sarah Beaumont, Arlington, June 12th, [1840], LFP-BLC
--gardens/ land at Arlington

“I wish you could have been with us this spring I never saw the Country here more beautiful we had a cool season & a great deal of rain, thousands of roses & honeysuckles….If we had the fine rich soil of the West here we could accomplish a great deal but we are obliged continually to enrich our land….”   

REL Letterbook #1, 1841-1844,DE-C

--REL frequent travels to Arlington
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E[liza] A [Mackay]Stiles to Mother, Washington Saturday eve, Feb 9th  n.d.[??—doesn’t correspond to any Sat date in Feb, but c. 1844], SHC-UNC

--widow of Alexander Hamilton at Arlington

Speaks of meeting the widow of Alexander Hamilton—88 years old—good member “& lately she spent a few days at Arlington, I hope to meet her there, some time, as she is a very interesting person….” 

MCL and REL to MFC, Fort Hamilton, May 1st 1844, GBL-VHS

--rose arbor at Arlington

 “…those dear little girls I expect they have been much too much in the hot sun, tell them I should like to take tea with them in their Rose arbor.” 
MCL and REL to MFC, Fort Hamilton, May 30th [1844], GBL-VHS

--compost heap at Arlington

“Do not let them neglect entirely the leaf pile in the flower garden but sometimes empty the suds and buckets upon it—”

REL to MCL, Camp near Parras [Mexico], 7 Dec. 1846, DE-LC

--plantation life a study in contrasts

“There are some fine large estates here, on which there is a union of wealth, poverty, plenty, want, elegance, sloveness [sic] as with us.” 

MCL to Sarah Beaumont, Arlington, October 18th [1847?], LFP-BLC

--MCL on moving and Arlington

“I have in my short life been obliged to break up 3 pleasant homes & what may be my future lot God only knows.  The home of my childhood is always open to receive me—”

MCL to MFC, n.d. [c. 1850], GBL-VHS

--trying to lure REL to permanently stay at Arlington 

“Milly” is purportedly dictating this letter

“I often want to go back to Arlington & be with you again.  I hope they are going to build a house next door so as to drive Papa away & we can all go back to Arlington & play with Robby all day & hug him all night close….”

MFC to GWCL, Arlington, October 15th [c.1851], Custis, Lee , Mason Family Papers, LoV

--Rebuilding steps and portico

“Your Grandfather is seized with a spirit of improvement lately—he is making new steps to the Portico (the old ones having so decayed as to be unsafe) and intends paving it with sexagon (?) brick tiles which are now being burned on one of the vast brick kilns in Washington—then he going to put a new roof on the stable....” 

MFC to “Miss Caroline” [Peter], Arlington, Feb. 20, 1851, LCP-WL 

--love of Arlington and scores of visitors

“There are some beautiful things in cities notwithstanding I should prefer my dilapidated house here to a city Palace.”  also mentions “such a levee of visitors.”
MCL to GWCL, Arlington, January 5th[1852], MCL-VHS (section 23)

--love forArlington/building portico

“We have a nice set of new steps to the Portico & it is partly paved which is a great improvement—It is to be completed in the spring when they can get more bricks made for it.  Everything else looks much as usual.  I hope we shall all be able one day to build up the old place for it is very dear to us all[.]  There are associations connected with it which can never be connected with another spot on earth--& in all our wanderings our thoughts & affections repose on our early home—”

MCL to GWCL, Arlington, January 5th[1852], MCL-VHS (section 23)

--life at Arlington//REL and GWPC talking politics

“Your Grandpa is full now of Kossuth & Louis Napoleon & the affairs of the whole world [.]  He & your papa discuss them after we retire every night--& a general war seems to be the least calamity foretold.” 

MCL to WHFL, January 31st 1852, William Henry Fitzhugh Lee Papers, VHS

--loveliness of trees at Arlington

“I have been walking among the cedars enjoying their beauty in grouping and shape.”

REL and MCL to GWCL, Baltimore, 1 Feby 1852, DE-LC
--Arlington full of sick guests

(MCL):  “Rob has this morning broken out with measles & Eliza & your sister very poorly so I think we shall have a hospital here for some time.  Milly has got quite well tho’ she is not yet downstairs….”

MCL to Anna Maria Fitzhugh, Arlington, [August] 19th [1852], MCL-VHS (section 23)

--Arlington Springs GWPC delight/headache for family

..the breaking of the bridge prevents much intercourse from Washington except of the Springs visitors who are as numerous as ever & today made a descent upon the house which was not particularly pleasant to us as we found it not so agreeable to ask them out which was the only way of getting rid of them.  How Father can enjoy such a nuisance I cannot conceive but it seems to be his delight—He ought not to ridicule people for going to watering places when he keeps one the whole summer entirely for his own amusement—if there was any profit in it there would be some sense in it but it impoverishes him daily—”

ALJ, LFP-VHS

--what they read at Arlington

12/24/52:  Christmas presents include Angel over the Right Shoulder and The Distant Hills

3/2/ 53:  mentions the arrival of Harpers, letters written my Napoleon to Josephine “after on[e] of his great battles.  I wonder how she ever read it.  Such scribbling.”

3/16/53:  Lydia Sigourney:  “Examples of Life and Death”

8/8/53:  Abbot’s Young Christians; [William] Pinnock’s Goldsmith’s England
EAL and ACL to WHFL, Arlington, Saturday night, January 1853, William Henry Fitzhugh Lee Papers, VHS

--new ice house being built

“Grandpapas just finished building a new ice house a third larger than his old one.”
ALJ, February 16, 1853, DE-LC

--pride in Arlington gardens/crocuses

“Last Thursday I was walking in my garden at recess when I saw two crocuses….they looked so bright and beautiful with their little heads turned towards the sun as if drinking in his warm beams.  That was the tenth of Feb.  I was so proud that my flowers should bloom before any others.” 
ALJ, February 16, 1853, DE-LC

--visitors to Arlington/Washington Irving

“Monday we expected Washington Irving and Mr. [Charles] Lanman and prepared accordingly but they did not come until next day.  I merely had a peep at Mr. Irving.  I wish he had dined as we expected….”

ALJ, March 23, 1853, DE-LC

--visitors to Arlington/Benson Lossing

Benson Lossing and wife are at Arlington

ALJ, April 20, 1853, DE-LC

--visitors to Arlington
“In fact were I to attempt to write down each arrival I would have a task; so many distinguished guests must not feel slighted if they are left out of this record.”

GWCL to WHFL, West Point, NY, May 1st 1853, William Henry Fitzhugh Lee Papers
--on MFC grave at Arlington

“I think and hope that her remains may add to the many and deep attractions which the old place has for us; there, where most of us were born, let all of us rest in peace until the trumpet [calls—check] us to the last judgment.”  

EC Turner to MCL, n.d. [c. 1853], DE-LC

--pressure to be at Arlington

“God grant that when Robert & your children come on they may return no more!  dear Mary I know it was your blessed mother’s wise, oh that you may all desire it, that it may be so determined….Dear Mary I sincerely hope that you will be permanently established at Arlington before long….”

(Mentions REL—“dear Robert  has always bee to me a most loved, & favorite relation….”)   

“MCG” to MCL, Myrtle Inn, 26th May [1853], DE-LC

--Lovely Arlington! (after death of MFC)

“Lovely Arlington!  I think of it now as I do of my own home when away from it:  once the scene of brightest pleasure now more dear thro’ its sad associations.”

ALJ, June 1, 1853, DE-LC

--EAL love of Arlington

“The time is approaching for vacations.  I do not like to think of leaving Arlington now, I love it more than ever.  If we do go I hope it is only for a little while, this is always my home.  And such a beautiful one, I am sure I ought to love it.”
ALJ, June 22, 1853, DE-LC

--visitors to Arlington/ President Pierce

“Pres. Pearce [sic] & his wife drove over here yesterday, their carriage was very handsome.”

ALJ, August 8, 1853, DE-LC

--EAL love of Arlington
“How can I say farewell to Arlington!  How can I quit the dear place never never perhaps to return.  It is heart rending, but I suppose I must bear it.”

ALJ, August 26, 1853, DE-LC

--EAL love of Arlington

“I am so homesick, I long for Arlington, my precious Arlington, my own dear home…. O how I love my home—thou art an old & tried friend; as for this place I know nothing about it.”

MCW Diary, October 28, 1853, AHA

--Arlington still candlelit in 1853

Speaks of “evening candles” being lit and that a “cheerful fire blazed”.

MCW Diary, October 28 and 29, 1853, AHA

--visit of Benjamin West to Arlington
GWPC conversation with Benjamin West consisted of “little anecdotes relating to celebrated artists”—Joshua Reynolds, Lord Nelson and Lady Hamilton, Sir Walter Scott.  “Uncle relates everything with so much interest….”

MCW Diary, Nov. 6, 1853, AHA

--intruder at Arlington

Mentions that a young man with a gun comes and menaces the house

MCW Diary, Nov. 7, 1853, AHA

--company at Arlington

A young man comes, sits down, says nothing, spits in the fire at intervals—Markie finds it amusing, asks to go to Mt. Vernon, remains silent, then leaves.  GWPC:  “Now was not that the greatest bore anyone could have imagined—persons ought to be more scrupulous about occupying the time of others.”

MCW Diary, Nov. 15, 1853, AHA

--company at Arlington
“It is a common saying at home, that if company comes on Monday, they continue to come every day in the week—see notebook for disturbing visit of free negroes and ladies

MCW Diary, Nov. 15, 1853, AHA

--sounds at Arlington
“…for ordinarily, we hear nought but the little birds building their nests in the roof of the portico or a stray hen luxuriating in the sand below or the crack of the cowboy’s whip as he drives home the cattle to their  evenings duty.” 
MCW Diary, Nov. 16, 1853, AHA

--company at Arlington

Men come to take a daguerreotype of Arlington; men coming to persuade GWPC to accompany them to give silver trumpet to the fire company; also visit by the daughter of Clark Mills [ Washington Monument] and then Rev. Sparrow.” 

MCW Diary, Nov. 17, 1853, AHA

--view from Arlington
“The scenery from the old Portico at Sun set or moon rise is ravisant [sic].”

REL to MCW, West Point 11 March 1854 in Lee, To Markie
--REL feelings for Arlington

42/  “I will only add that…my heart leaps within me at the thought of soon revisiting Dear A—& all its inmates scenes & associations—” 
REL to MCW, West Point 15 March 1854 in Lee, To Markie
--REL feelings for Arlington

43/ “I shall therefore have the great pleasure of being at Arlington Saturday evg next at all events & passing there I hope one more Sunday, where I have passed many many happy & improving ones & where my affection & attachments are more strongly placed than at any other place in the World.” 

REL to MCW, West Point 25 May 1854 in Lee, To Markie
--REL affection for Arlington

“I hope you will not alltogether [sic]desert those whom you have so much benefited, but occasionally at least visit the spot with which you are associated & where you will always be desired.  Your description of the woods, the flowers & the birds, brought all plainly before me, & I wished I could be there with you.”

ACL to Helen Bratt, Arlington, July 13th [sic 12th]Thursday morning,; and continuation Thursday evening [1854], LFP-VHS

--Arlington 1854

“—everything was topsy turvey, the men taking down the wall to put up th furnace & Ma’s forty work baskets & forty work women scattered through the house, a carriage drove up & who do you think stepped out, no other than the celebrated flattered conceited Mr. J.B. Wheeler….”

n.b. also gives a description of slaves at Cedar Grove carrying people ashore
Other beaux from West Point arrive—Heitzel—ACL  tries to flee:  “I was immediately ordered back as the only person in the house who at that moment enjoyed a dress around them….To clap the climax he asked me to sing for him (I have never been guilty of such a thing in my life!) even a Graduating Song what he had sent me….”
Diary of Elizabeth Lomax, August 26, 1854, in CCLVIII
Lomax,.  Leaves from an Old Washington Diary

--Arlington goodies:  ham, biscuits, cake

26/  “…Mrs. Lee arrived with a large box of edibles for our boys to take to West Point.  It contained Virginia, ham, beaten biscuits, cakes and all manner of good things.”
EAL Journal, April 18, 1855, DE-LC

--EAL love of Arlington
“I am once more at my dear old home!  My precious Arlington!”

ALJ, [April] 20, 1855, DE-LC

--EAL love of Arlington
“West Point is probably more striking & picturesque, but Arlington with its commanding view, fine old trees & soft wild luxuriance of its woods can favorably compare with any home I’ve seen.!”

MCL Diary, Arlington, May 20th, 1855, LFP-VHS

--MCL on plantation mistress duties

“…I am again at my childhood home, but how changed—I am almost over whelmed by the numerous duties which devolve around me Oh my God give me grace to perform them faithfully & to preserve a serene & holy spirit in the  midst of the thousand vexation which daily annoy me.”

ALJ, [June] 11 1855, DE-LC

-- horses at Arlington

Talks of new pair of carriage horse to replace “Lion” who had died (his partner was “Tiger”)
EAL and ACL ride horseback to a neighboring plantation on “Anne” and Santa Anna with Old Dan’l in  tow on “Grace”, including galloping “splendidly”.
ALJ, July 8, 1855, DE-LC

--4th of July at Arlington

“O I have forgotten to say something about the ‘glorious fourth.’  Grandpa attended the celebration in W[ashington] & it poured almost the whole time.  After tea there was a grand display on the Arlington portico—of cushions shawls &c. to make us comfortable while gazing at the magnificent fireworks which were to astonish the millions.  Well we waited—& waited, one or two faint efforts were made but it was ‘no go’ & we went in much scandalized by the idea of a 4th without fireworks.  Hopes were held out for the next night another preparation—another failure.  They were wet—they would be ready by Saturday.  A third effort to see what was not to be & we gave up.”

REL to William F. Wickham, Arlington, 2 Jany 1856 and REL to Francis Nelson, White House, New Kent Co, 15 Feb 1856, both in REL Letterbook #1, LFP-VHS

--Custis estates in disarray

Talks of irregular accounts kept by Nelson and looking for a new overseer

MCL to EAL, White House, 6th March [1856], DE-LC

-- Arlington not typical isolated plantation wife

In contrast to Arlington MCL notes on her trip to the White House that “I can tell you nothing new here as we never see a soul & it is the most lonely place you ever saw.” 

WHFL to MCL, Cambridge, March 30th ’56, DE-LC

--Custis property

“And Grandpa having more land & servants than he knows what to do with I see no reason why I should not be a farmer.”

Blanche Berard to mother, April 18, 1856, in “Arlington and Mount Vernon, 1856 (in notebook)

--Arlington parlor

“On the right of the hall opens a room, which a sort of archway divides in two, a large & smaller apartment.  I said to Markie ‘I like this room; it is not the least bit in order,’—‘Yes’ she replied ‘perhaps you think as Mrs Pierce (Mrs. President) remarked of it the other day ‘it is a pre-eminently Social room.’”
Blanche Berard to mother, April 18, 1856, in “Arlington and Mount Vernon, 1856 (in notebook)

--Arlington bedrooms

Says the bedrooms “are all large, but we should think them terribly unfurnished.”

Blanche Berard to mother, April 18, 1856, in “Arlington and Mount Vernon, 1856 (in notebook)

--beauty of Arlington

“The most beautiful object I saw was Arlington, which shows strikingly for miles.”

MCL to CCL, Arlington, July 14, [1856], EA-LC

--summer at Arlington/merry visitors

“Rooney has gone down to Cedar Grove to see those girls who have quite bewildered him….I have two tall girls just returned from Staunton & Mary will go with me to the Springs….Charley & Louis Conrad have been to see us this summer & we have had a host of young people in the House who seemed very merry as I heard their voices up in my room.”

MCW Diary, August 9, 1856, AHA

--Markie on Arlington

“I was delighted to get back to dear Arlington.  It is the sweetest, peacefulest place, in all the world to me & its inmates the most agreeable.”

MCW Diary, August 11, 1856, AHA

--Thomas Crawford visits Arlington

Long entry on sympathetic visit of Thomas Crawford:  “The agreeable fact dawned upon me, that I was conversing with one of our most distinguished American Sculptors.”

MCL to REL, Arlington, August 19th and 23rd 1856, DE-LC

--REL advises on estate matters

Talks of interviewing overseers, including “Mr. Winston”:   “…he had had numerous applications but will take no step without consulting you & trusting to your better judgement [sic].”

MCL to REL, Arlington, September 20,  1856, DE-LC

--REL advises on estate matters
“Father…says he has applications every day for the post of manager at the White House, that he shall take no step without your approbation.” 

MCW Diary, October 11, 1856, AHA

--Markie on Arlington
“There was never a more perfect night than this—the moon was refulgently [sic]bright as we rode home and old Arlington with its massive pillars, looked like an old castle.  Uncle remarked ‘how beautiful the house looks by moonlight!’ and truly the old mansion and its surroundings could not be exceeded at least in our partial eyes.” 

MCW Diary, Oct. 21, 1856, AHA

--Visit of President Pierce; view; Washington pictures 

“This morning, about ten o’clock, a buggy drove up—Mary Lee was sitting in the portico making leather frames, in somewhat negligent attire.  I was in the parlor, hearing Mildred her French Lessons.  Uncle had gone to the farm, feeling very much the worse for his night’s dissipation and Cousin Mary, quite unwell had not left her room.  

   “Mildred completed her lessons in a few minutes after and I went out in the hall to see who had come.  Mary come [sic] out from the drawing room, telling me that the President had caught her in dishabille—that he had come over to see Uncle, saying which , she went out in the yard to find a servant to send for him.  While I was standing at the back door meditating whether my appearance was sufficiently comme il faut, to present myself before his august excellency, he came out into the Hall.  He immediately recognized  

me and bowed affably….I was mantled in blushes at this unexpected rencontre & commenced to apologize for my morning costume.  he waved all apology, saying the hour was so early.  I regretted that Uncle had just gone to the farm, but, we had sent for him.  He said he would not give us the trouble to do that, that he would ride down & see him there.  That he had felt very anxious about his coming home last night.  I remarked that Uncle had expressed an appreciation of his great kindness in urging him to stay &c.  ‘Yes,’ he said, ‘I was very anxious for him to stay—Mrs. Pierce had had his room prepared & was much disappointed when she heard he could not be prevailed on to occupy it.’  I told him that Uncle could never be persuaded to break in upon long established rules, and that it was one of his never to stay away from home at night, when it was within the range of possibility to get there. He asked to see Sharpless likeness of Washington as he said he though that so peculiarly expressive of what he apprehended as the character of General Washington.  We asked them in the back parlor where it hung over the Mantle piece.  Mildred was astonished to be molested in her lessons, by the intrusion of the President; however, she went on with her writing without paying attention.  I then went up stairs to get Grandmama Washington’s miniature, which they both seemed to admire extremely.  The President expressed regrets that the atmosphere [sic] was so hazey [sic] that the view was obscured as he said he thought the view from here was the most beautiful he had ever seen.  After looking at the pictures with much interest and hearing from Marie & I the discription [sic] of each, he made a motion to depart.  I sent my kind remembrances to Mrs. Pierce and Marie & myself both said we hoped that she would soon come and see us.  He said that she was not very well, but, he would bring her over as soon as she was better, &c, &c.

“When Uncle returned he said he missed seeing the president.  I told him that we had entertained him &c.  He said he went down to the Spring and enquired for him but, missing him left his compliments and regrets.  Uncle seemed very sorry not to have seen him, coming up to me as I sat at the little table writing and putting his hand on my head he kissed my forehead & said in his kind way, ‘Markie I am glad I have such a good representative as you when I am not at home.’”

MCL to REL, Hot Springs, 3rd August [1857], DE-LC

--REL advises on estate matters
“Carter said Mr. Wickham had received a letter from you touching the settlement of Mr. nelson’s accounts—towards which nothing had been done since you left—nor will be done I feel sure ‘till you return.”

MCL to REL, Arlington, October 2d 1857, DE-LC

--Ruinous condition of stables 1857

“Everything is more than usual at a stand.  The stables being pronounced unsafe we have a carpenter here putting on a new roof….the poor old place looks very ruinous….”

Anna Maria Fitzhugh to Charles B Dana, “Saturday 2 o’clk”, n.d. [October 1857], Charles B. Dana Papers, UT Austin

--death of GWPC/selection of coffins/grave

“Did Mrs Lee say to you when speaking of the directions to Mr Green  that she did not like the coffin he made for her mother?  It was too much ornamented—she wished it plain & of dark wood—Do you remember Richard Suff’s?—that seemed to her so, & very handsome—She wished a plate, with the dates….She wants it handsome, but plain—The one I mention I thought suited that view exactly—They are calm here, now, but fatigued, especially the girls, Agnes is sleeping quietly, but the others are too much excited yet to rest—I have just been walking with Mary to  select the spot for her Father’s grave—She has wonderful resolution but feels this blow deeply.”

National Intelligencer quoted in CCCXXI Custis, Memoirs of Washington
--on GWPC death

72/  Says thousands had visited Arlington to hear stories and see “touching memorials there treasured up with care….”

“The multitudes of our fellow-citizens accustomed, in the heat of summer, to resort to the shades of Arlington, will hereafter miss that old man eloquent, who every extended to them a warm-hearted welcome and became a partaker of their joy.”

REL to “Cousin Anna”, Arlington, Nov. 22, 1857, REL-DU

--poor conditions at Arlington at death of GWPC

REL finds that “everything is in ruins and will have to be rebuilt.”  The overseers house so dilapidated that “it deters respectable men with families from engaging .”  Mill also needs repair.

ALJ, December 13, 1857, DE-LC

--EAL love of Arlington

EAL is supposed to spend winter in Baltimore:  “Dear dear Arlington.  I cannot bear to leave it.”

GWCL to MCL, Fort Point, San Francisco, 14th January 1858, MCL-VHS (section 23)

--Custis wants to give his share of Arlington to REL

“...as I understand the will—I have nothing to do with Arlington until after your death, which I sincerely hope may not occur until after my own—My wishes, however, would be the same as they are now, had I been left everything; and these are to resign everything to Pa’ entirely to do with as he may think best, no other thought ever came into my mind—neither Rooney nor myself, I am sure, could agree to allow Pa’ and yourself  to work hard to the end of your days , provided we could do anything to prevent it....I have taken it for granted that as long as Pa’ and yourself live, you are to have the entire and unlimited control and possession of all the property left by Grandpa’...any papers that may be necessary for this purpose, can be made out and sent to me for signature....I will say in conclusion that it is my wish, will always be my wish, and it is my determination, provided I have any right to any part of Grandpa’s property, to resign it in favor of Pa’” 

GWCL to MCL, Fort Point San Francisco, 16 Feb. 1858, DE-LC

--GWCL tries to relinquish interest in Arlington

“Since I first became aware of the requirements of my dear Grandfather’s will, I have been convinced that it was not only right & proper, but in accordance with the best interests of all of us, that Pa should have unlimited control over the whole property, in order that the will might be carried into effect—I see no other way in which all of its requirements can be satisfied….I have no fear that I shall ever regret anything he may do in the management of whatever is entrusted to him, and I feel that without full power to act as one thinks best, it is next to impossible to do anything….”
GWCL to MCL(d), Fort Point, San Francisco, 17th February 1858, MCL-VHS (section 33)

--GWCL on fondness for Arlington

“I wish I had a fortune to spend on the dear old place, Arlington, I mean, and that I could make it what we all wish it to be; but a great deal can be done with even a very little, in time, and although two of those, who had so very much to do in making the old place dear to us, have been taken away from us, by God’s will, still we must ever look upon it as our earthly home, and feel for it all the affection which such a name inspires, and to which the associations connected with it give rise....”  

REL to GWCL, Arlington, 17th March 1858 in Jones Life and Letters
--GWCL trying to give Arlington to REL

90/ “I am deeply impressed by your filial feelings of love and consideration, as well as your tender solicitude for me, of which, however, I required no proof, and am equally touched by your generosity and disinterestedness.  But from what I said in a previous letter, you will not be surprised at my repeating that I cannot accept your offer….simply because it would not be right for me to do so.  Your dear grandfather distributed his property as he thought best, and it is proper that it should remain as he bestowed it.  It will not prevent me from improving it to the best of my ability….to build up old Arlington and make it all we would wish to see it.” [Says also that GWCL has already drawn up the deed—which REL regrets.]  

ACL to MCW, n.d. [note says c. 1838—but Annie was not yet born!—more likely Spring, 1858] TPA

--visit of Rembrandt Peale/ gardens

Mentions everyone is clearing up leaves.  Visit from “Old Rembrandt Peale”

“…we have many crocuses & jonquils & a few violets….”

ACL to Helen Bratt, Arlington, Sept 19th [1858 or 59], LVP-WL

--greenhouse at Arlington

“We have a green house this year, but as yet have few flowers, nearly all our own raising from cuttings this summer if we succeed well, this winter by next year we will have a great many.  I am devoted to my flowers & have 24 little geraniums of my own raising plenty of parmese violets heliotropes & callas, it will look so sweetly.”

EAL to WHFL, Arlington, October 2nd 1858, DE-LC

--whirl of summer visiting

“Annie and mamma returned from the Hot Springs (after a stay of five weeks) on the 18th of September.  Mamma was I think a good deal benefited and looked fat and well….Uncle Williams was at the Hot Springs some days with them.  Charlotte & Cousin Mary arrived the night before they left….Miss Wick[ham]…has promised us…a visit this month….Mary Stuart is coming to pay us a visit in a week or two.  We also expect the Childes and Uncle Carters family….Sister leaves us the 6th to attend Laura Stuart’s wedding as bridesmaid….I have passed a very  pleasant summer four weeks.  Rob, Mil & myself staid at Ravensworth.  Uncle Smith, Aunt Nannie & the Kerrs were there….”   

RR Gurley to MCL, Washington, October 6, 1858 in CCCXXI Custis, Memoirs of Washington
--hospitality at Arlington 

11-12/ (Speaking of  GWPC in MCL preface to book):  “Nothing could exceed the easy grace and politeness of his manners, his uniform and benevolent cheerfulness, and the delightful eloquence of his conversation.  There was the blending of good humor, cordiality, interest in those whom he addressed, with the riches of a brilliant poetic imagination, throwing light and joy upon all around.  Thos who visited Arlington immediately found themselves at home.  Every want was anticipated by kind attentions, and nothing omitted which could contribute to their happiness; they seemed to realize the return of the days when Washington himself welcomed his guests at Mount Vernon and presided at the feast.”

REL to GWCL, Arlington, January 2d 1859 in Jones Life and Letters
--Improvements at Arlington/rain leaking

“…I fear I shall accomplish little…and must leave many things undone.  I think, however, some amelioration has been affected and we at least enjoy at every storm the exclusion of rain from the house and stable.” 

REL to GWCL, Arlington, 2nd July 1859 in Jones, Life and Letters
--attempting to improve Arlington/runaway slaves

102/  “You must not have your mind exalted by Rooney’s accounts of the improvements at this place.  They are very meager, and only serve to ameliorate matters that formerly were very rough and ugly.  I have not the means to do what I should like, and what I do do has to be limited by considerations of economy and practicality.  I have been able to do nothing to the grounds around the house, except to clean up on the hill, and have been obliged to limit myself to what is most essential, and promises something for man and beast to eat, and to furnish shelter and protection. You will find things, therefore, I fear rough and unsightly, as much as I desire to polish up your mother’s habitation, and to prepare for you an acceptable home….I do not know that you have been told that George Wesly[sic]  and Mary Norris, absconded some months ago, were captured in Maryland, making their way to Pennsylvania, brought back, and are now hired out in lower Virginia.  I had to send down before them, Obediah, Edward, Henry, and Austin Bingham.  The price here is very small, and I have to hire nearly all the labor.  We have nothing but the old men and boys.  The N.Y. Tribune has attacked me for my treatment of your grandfather’s slaves, but I shall not reply.  He has left me an unpleasant legacy.” 

REL to GWCL, Arlington, August 19, 1859, in Jones, Life and Letters
--JEB Stuart staying at Arlington

“Your friend J.E.B. Stuart was here last week.  He is spending his furlough in Va.  Gas been here several times, and once while I was away spent a night.”

MCL preface in CCCXXI Custis,  Memoirs of Washington 

--description of those in Arlington circle

40/  Nelly Custis:  “was considered on e of the most beautiful women of the day, to which her portrait at Arlington house, by Gilbert Stuart, bears testimony.  All who knew her can recall the pleasure which they derived from her extensive information, brilliant wit, and boundless generosity.  The most tender parent and devoted friend, she lived in the enjoyment of her affections.”

41/  Nelly tells tales of life at Mount Vernon when Martha Washington would seize GW by the buttons to command his attention—and she played merry pranks on   
Lydia H Signorney to MCL, Hartford, January 17th 1860, copy in MCL hand, DE-LC

--hospitality of Custises at Arlington

“I think of you & of my visits to Arlington House in past years where your sainted mother presided with her serene angelic spirit, & your Father whose gifted mind is entwined with memories of the Pater Patria, nobly displayed the true Virginia hospitality.”
REL to GWCL, San Antonio, Texas, 9 March 1860, CL-LC

--difficulties of managing Arlington

“I hope you will have no trouble in carrying on the domestic operations though from my experience that is almost hoping against hope.”

REL to My dear Son [GWCL], Fort Brown, Texas, 16 April 1860, REL-DU

--layout of Arlington grounds/kitchen/ pig pens/ ice house

“I am glad you are cleaning up back of the Kitchen—The pig pens must go down to the ravine north of the ice house—” 

REL to GWCL, San Antonio, 4 July 1860, CL-LC

--high costs of Arlington 1860

 “It does not require me to tell you that it will take a stronger man than I am to Supply funds for the wants of Arlington, the White House & if this State of things is to continue where it will end—” 

REL to ACL, San Antonio, August 27, 1860, DE-LC

--REL not comfortable in Arlington household

“It is better, too, I hope for all that I am here.  You know I was much in the way of everybody, and my tastes and pursuits did not coincide with the rest of the household.  Now I hope every one is happier.”

MCL to “My dear child” [MiCL],  [Dec] 5, [1860], DE-LC

--REL in Texas—MCL wants him home

“I got a letter from your papa tonight.  He is well & seems to be expecting to go to Camp Cooper which I believe is one of the last places on the face of the earth—I wish he could come home.”

Diary of William Oliver Webster, 18 March 1861, collection of William Webster (EBP has copy)

--REL distracted/rude /description of Arlington

“This morning the wind was in the north-east and blew very cold.   Uncle thot that we had not better go to Silver Spring as we had contemplated, but concluded that after breakfast we would take a walk over to Arlington, G.W. P. Custis’s old place, so accordingly after breakfast we started across lots to some steps we were soon on, one end of the plantation we took the road which led over to the schoolhouse on the place for the darkeys put up by Mrs. Custis,  but we seeing a foot-path leading off into the woods, we thought to make our journey as short as possible, so we took it and final[l]y wandered back to the very spot in the woods from whence we first started, then Uncle thought he would try it again so getting the direction as he thought we started on another foot-path and finding a road where teams had been lately after wood we followed on at random, and came out about a mile out of our way again, finding a house we went in and inquired the road and an old German woman went and put us on a straight road, so after about a mile we came to the door yard gate, we went to the tomb of Mr. Custis and wife then going to the house we inquired of the half-dozen darkeys that stood around we inquired for Mr. Lee whose wife has the use of the place while living so going into his office we found the Col., very busy.  We after introducing ourselves made known our business and he informed us that it was a private residence, and on Uncle’s telling him about Mr. Custis taking pleasures in showing strangers the relics of Washington, he colored up and said that his business kept him confined but would show us what little there was to be seen in five minutes.  On our rising to go he said he would show us around thro’ the front door so passing through a bedroom he told us the bed was the one on which Washington slept, then going into the hall, he pointed out some portraits of the Patriots, and showed us the lantern which hung at Mount Vernon then taking us out into the porch (by which time he [Lee] got quite sociable) we had one of the finest prospects I ever beheld.  we could see the whole city, and down the river several miles, and the grounds of Mr Lee’s or rather Col. (as he is a U.S. officer and told us he had been home but a few days from the Comanche country) are laid out very romantic being in woodland and grass plats and very extensive made a beautiful scene to look upon.  after walking on a little way with us he asked us to step in and rest awhile but we not having time did not and bade him good bye.  we then took a straight line across to Mr. Vorses whose land joins Mr. Lee’s.  we staid there about an hour and got quite rested, then came home, and so ended my first visit to one of the Old families of Virginia who have descended from noble ancestors.”

N.b:  spelling/punc. as in original

Charles G. Halpine to wife [Margaret Milligan Halpine], Arlington Heights, 24 May 1861, Halpine Papers, HL

--crossing to Arlington

“At 1 this morning the drums beat and the Regiment at 3 took up its line of March for Virginia across the Aqueduct, accompanied by the 5th, 28th and a squadron of cavalry.  It was a glowing moonlight night, the woods deathly silent, except every now and again in advance when there would be a few soldiers and random shots as our van drove in the enemy’s outposts.  We are now throwing up entire [culverts]? and last night burned the bridges in advance of us so as to prevent an attack in force by surprise.” 

Charles G. Halpine to Margaret [Milligan Halpine], Fort Seward, Arlington Heights, 25 May 1861, Halpine Papers, HL

--camp life Arl.

“We have christened our encampment Fort Seward and are throwing up monstrous earthworks all round it under the direction of two U.S. Captains of Engineers, who say they never had men who worked with such ardor.....At night we have frequent alarms and scouting parties—our camp being surrounded by a double line of chain sentries extending about ¾ of a mile on all sides.  The men are without tents and sleep on their arms under huts or woven branches or any thing they can find.  With the fortification of this place Washn is safe beyond any peradventure.  Had the rebels fortified it, no power on earth could have driven them away from it....There are now 1,500 men in the 69th....The excitement of this life is intense and most agreeable—though the scouting parties through the woods, or visiting the pickets after nightfall are ticklish.”  Says is kept busy all day  writing, giving passes, examining persons arrested....  

Charles G. Halpine to Margaret [Milligan Halpine], Fort Seward, Arlington Heights, 27 May 1861, Halpine Papers, HL

--camp life Arl.

“Our tents are all up now and our men quite comfortable.  The fortifications are progressing rapidly and will, in about 3 days, be formidable when mounted with artillery.  All the hills are occupied with regiments, ours having the post of danger & honor on the extreme right of the line of defence, as the 12th N.y. V. has on the extreme left, there being about 15 regiments, chiefly New England, interwoven.  There are constant outpost alarms and skirmishes all night but we are growing accustomed to these & sleep us comfortably until the General alarm is sounded.”

Charles G. Halpine to wife [Margaret Milligin Halpine], For Corcoran, Arlington Heights, 29 May 1861, Halpine Papers, HL

--Camp life Arl/dining at Arlington House

Says hasn’t had clothes off for three days except to change shirt and sox.  Has to accompany colonel on what is known as “grand round”:  “a visit to all the most advanced sentries and pickets, the two of us riding alone over fields and through thick patches of wood, down vallies [sic] and over hills, with our revolvers cocked and in hand, for a circle of five miles round the camp.  This is to see that tall the guards are properly stationed and that the men are awake.  Sometimes we come unexpectedly in sight of the rebel outposts—that is, can see their camp fires at a distance of three or four miles; and very often (though it has never yet happened with us,) a ball whistles out of some patch of foliage in unpleasant proximity to the sentry’s ear.  Then the sentries along the line discharge their muskets one after another until the ‘General alarm’ reaches the camp; and in less than one minute all the men are out of their tents, armed and drawn up in line....

“Today Gen. Hunter has invited Col. Corcoran to dine with the Secy of War at Arlington House, late the residence of Gen. Lee, the commander in chief of the Rebel forces in Va.  Of course I accompany Hunter as his aide....”  

Charles G. Halpine to wife [Margaret Milligin Halpine], Camp Corcoran, Arlington Heights, 31 May 1861, Halpine Papers, HL

--raising flag at Arl./dancing the jig

Says is out of sorts because spends so much time in saddle.  “We had great times tonight:  hoisting the Amn Flag on the highest hill in our camp, on a pole eighty feet high, so as to let all the secessionists for 20 miles round know where to find us.  We had speeches by Corcoran, Mooney, Meagher, & songs by various parties—of which you will see due mention in The Herald, I believe....There is a fellow about 5 yards feom me scraping away at a fiddle & dozens of the ‘boys’ are dancing, as if the ‘sacred soil of Virginia’ were only made as a platform for the performance of Irish jigs.” 

“George”  [John G. ] Nicolay to Therena [Bates], May 31, 1861, in Nicolay Papers, Library of Congress
--John Nicolay visit to Arlington

Washington May 31st 1861

Dear Therena

     In company with John Hay and Bob Lincoln who is here on a short visit from college, I took, on yesterday afternoon my second horseback ride since I have been here.   We went across the Long Bridge over into Virginia where you know, many of our troops are now encamped.  They are engaged in throwing up earth breastworks to command the various approaches to the bridge, and judging from their appearance yesterday the soldiers are beginning fully to appreciate the earnest service of the campaign. “Passing” along (I mean this literally, for without a “pass” from Gen. Mansfield we could not have passed past the sentries, we went on up to Arlington House, situated on Arlington  Heights about which you have seen so much in the newspapers.  Arlington House is the old family mansion of the Custis family the relatives and descendants of Washington, and has one of the most beautiful situations imaginable –just opposite this city on a high sloping hill that rises up from the Potomac.  The house looks quite old—I don’t know when it was built, but it was evidently in its day a proud affair, and its arrangement, furniture, pictures &c at once carry one back to the good old “first family” days of Virginia, before her social decay had bred and engendered the treasonous reptiles that now wallow in the slime and mire of her political and moral corruption—In those days plantation grandeur atoned somewhat for their assumptions of family pride.  The furniture of the house was evidently “stylish” in its time. The chambers are filled up with family portraits—most of them very indifferent as works of art, of course.  Deers antlers, the trophies of the chase in the old days, are nailed up about the halls and passages, and altogether a historic and traditional atmosphere seemed to pervade the house such as I have not stood in for many a day.  In the garden we found an old negro at work who was born at Mt. Vernon before Gen. Washington’s death.  We asked him many questions—delighted him with introducing “Bob”—the Presidents son—in whom the old darkey expressed a lively interest—and fur=pleased with a gift of small change.  Altogether I dont know when I have passed so satisfactory and pleasant an afternoon.

     Last night I attended a reception at Secretary Sewards.

Your

           George

Diary of George Templeton Strong, 2 June 1861, L-386

--description of Arlington, June 1861

III: 154-55/  “Drove with Hoffman to Arlington House, the hereditary mansion of that fine old fellow, Colonel [Robert E. ] Lee, now unhappily a traitor.  A splendid place amid beautiful grounds, through which we strolled a while.  The sentinels refused us admission to the house and we were walking back to our carriage when General McDowell came riding up the road with his tail of staff and orderlies.  He hailed me, dismounted, took us through the house, and was very kind and obliging.  It’s a queer place, an odd mixture of magnificence and meanness, like the (155) castle of some illustrious, shabby, semi-insolvent old Irish family; for example, a grand costly portico with half-rotten wooden steps.  Hall decorated with pictures, battle-pieces, by some illustrious Custis or other [fearful to behold]; also with abundant stags’ skulls and antlers.  Thence to the camp of the Sixty-ninth...”  

Charles G. Halpine to Margt [Milligan Halpine], Fort Cororan, Arlington Heights, 14 June 1861, Halpine Papers, HL

--picking roses from Arlington

“...once & again when I ride in with Col. Hunter at 6 a.m. to breakfast with his family and carry bouquets of roses from Arlington Heights to his wife and adopted daughter, Mrs. Capt. StewardElizabeth J. Grimsley to John T. Stuart, Washington, June 23d 1861 in 
L-83/
Pratt, ed.,   Concerning Mr. Lincoln

--vignette of Mary Todd Lincoln and Arlington/REL generalship

84/  Describing a trip to Virginia with Mary Todd Lincoln to “look at the camps” during which they had an accident:

“On Saturday evening we rode over to Arlington Heights and certainly never had a more romantic ride.  General Lee would be glad to return, it is thought.  He and General Beauregard have had a difficulty and Davis sides with the latter.”
Samuel F. Du Pont to Sophie [Du Pont], Willard’s, 2 July 1861, L-378  Du Pont Letters

--visit to Arlington; dilapidated condition

I: 91/  “We...drove through woods and wound along up to Arlington Heights, passed through the camp of a New York Regiment (8th) in the beautiful grove surrounding mansion; and when in front of it I remembered, as if it had been yesterday, going into that house when a midshipman with your father, who was always so kind in taking young people with him.  The house had never had a brush of whitewash since then, and I remembered a piece of unfinished piazza and a brick wall which wanted plastering then and is in the same condition now.  It is the headquarters of General McDowell; the greatest order and propriety still reign around it—not a flower has been pulled out of the garden.

“Throughout a six-hours’ ride I did not see a single mark of devastation, except the cutting oftres to make stockades.  The views were surpassingly grand....”  

Lizzie [Elizabeth Blair Lee] to Phil [Samuel Phillips Lee], Silver Spring, July 6, 1861, in L-294

--laughs at Arlington/ prominent position

59/  “We went to Arlington [with Russell of the London Times—see below].  the  first time since my childhood.  he questioned me as to our relationship.  I made your reply on that point—He laughed at the House—but said he was amazed that they (the Confederates )ever retreat from that Hill He said he walked over the long bridge one night when five hundred Cavalry could [have] taken the city & that they had—but did not use their advantages & if Genl Scott had advanced his Vanguard there in Virginia—there would never have been any Secession in the Mother of States.” 

CXXX
  Russell, My Diary North and South July 8, 1861
--Arlington July 1861

394-95/  McDowell’s modest tent pitched near the house; “very striking and picturesque view…studded with tents as far as the eye could reach, towards Maryland.”

Only few offices at work in the rooms of Arlington House—remarked on this to McDowell who said there was much jealousy and he had to take care not to have more men than allotted to his rank of brigadier.

395/  “altogether I was not favorably impressed with what I saw, for I had been led by reiterated statements…and expected to find upwards of 100,000 men in the highest state of efficiency, whereas there were not more than a third of the number, and those in a very incomplete, ill-disciplined state.”   
CXXX
  Russell, My Diary North and South

--Arlington July 1861

394/  July 8, 1861:  Misinformation that Arlington House “belongs, by descent through Mr. Custis, from the wife of George Washington to General Lee, Commander-in-Chief of the Confederate Army.”  Occupied by McDowell as headquarters and “a large United States flay floats from the roof, which shames even the amply proportions of the many stars and stripes rising up from the camps in the trees.”

“The camps were dirty, no latrines—the tents of various pattern….”

“The road to Arlington House passed through some of the finest woods I have yet seen in America, but the axe was already busy amongst them, and the trunks of giant oaks were prostrate on the ground.”

396/  “In the course of my ride I heard occasional dropping shots in camp.  To my looks of inquiry, an engineer officer said quietly, ‘They are volunteers shottting themselves.’  The number of accidents from the carelessness of the men is astonishing; in every day’s paper there is an account of deaths and wounds caused by the discharge of firearms in the tents.”  
REL to MCL, Coosawhatchie SC, 25 Dec ’61, DE-LC

--on Arlington, Xmas 1861

“As to our old home if not destroyed it will be difficult even to be recognized.  Even if the enemy had wished to preserve it it would almost have been impossible.  With the numbers of troops encamped around it, the change of officers & the wants of fuel, shelter &c., are the dire necessities of war, it is vain to think of its being in habitable condition.  I fear too books, furniture & the relics of Mt. Vernon will be gone.  It is better to make up our minds to a general loss.  They cannot take away the remembrance of the Spot, & the memories of those that to us rendered it sacred.  That will remain to us as long as life will last, & that we can preserve.”
REL to MCL(d), Coosawhatchie S.C., 25 Decr 1861, MCL-VHS (section 14, restricted)

--bitter Christmas:  Arlington, “enemies”

“Among the calamities of war the hardest to bear perhaps is the separation of families & friends.  Yet all must be endured to accomplish [torn] & maintain our self government.

“In my absence from you I have thought of you very often & regretted I could do nothing for your comfort.  Your old home if not destroyed by our enemies has been so desecrated that I cannot bear to think of it.  I should have preferred it to have been wiped from the earth, its beautiful hill sunk, & its sacred trees burned, rather than to have been degraded by the presence of those who revel in the ill they do for their own selfish purposes.  You see what a poor sinner I am, & how unworthy to possess what was given me.  For that it has been taken away. I pray for a better spirit & that the hearts of our enemies may be changed.”“ 

Diary of Frances  Adeline (Fanny) Seward, December 28, 1861, William H. Seward Papers, (Reel 198), U Rochester, (LC)

--Arlington decorated by soldiers

“In the barouche....first over the long bridge, through the fort on the Virginia side, passing a house handsomely ornamented with Christmas greens, by the soldier’s who occupied it.”  

MCW to MCL, Georgetown DC, July 25, 1862, DE-LC

--MCW visit to Arlington

“Oh what a sad, sad visit it was—so changed, so changed & yet so like itself, is the dear place.  Where once peace & love dwelt, now all the insignia of war is arrayed….The garden is enclosed with a white washed fence & the roses & white jasmine were blooming as they used to do in the happy days gone bye….” 

“Arlington and Its Proprietors”

Unidentified Newspaper clip, n.d. [c. early spring 1865]

In Benjamin B. French Scrapbook, BBF Papers-LC (Reel 13)

“Mr. Custis took delight in paintings; but the six paintings now hanging in the hall of the Arlington mansion representing battles and Revolutionary incidents, painted by him, evince rather a sorry capacity in the author in that direction.  The walls of this mansion were, however, adorned with some fine specimens of the art.  Among them were several splendid original portraits of Washington—one by the elder Peale, another by Steuart [sic]; and there was also a beautiful portrait of his mother, by the latter- named artist. All these family pictures were taken away by the Lee family when they went into the rebellion.

“The mansion is now occupied by the officer in command of the post and his subordinates.  The dining hall is used as an office.  In this room are three old-fashioned book-cases, containing some four hundred volumes, principally old books—broken sets, and of very small value.  The parlor adjoining the hall is not occupied, the only article in it being a mahogany sideboard, which came from Mount Vernon.  In the parlor beyond are too [sic] sofas and six stuffed mahogany chairs, covered with scarlet velvet; two marble-top tables, a sideboard and a piano stool, matching the chairs.  On the walls are several coarse large portraits, and one or two fine oil paintings.  There are also two old engravings, of a classical, mythological character, hanging with the rest.  The room in the southerly wing, and used by Gen. Lee for his office, is now used as a bed-room; and all the upper part of the mansion is used for a like purpose.  The building is not injured.  The flower garden has been enclosed by a new fence, and is laid out and tastefully adorned this spring.”   

n.b.:  REL has not surrendered at the time this was written, article talks about the ongoing war; article contains many factual errors about the family, so description may also contain inaccuracies.

James E. Tinker to dear Friend, Camp Stetson, near DC, 3 Oct 1862, Chamberlain Papers, DLC

--description of slaying the oaks

“I have been about five weeks in the ‘region of the ‘seat of war,’ but cannot say that my experience here has as yet been very warlike.  We have not yet been in any battle, except  battle with the oaks, and in that we have slain immense numbers of our foe—and perhaps we have  had nearly as many wounded as if we had been in the hard-fought battle at Antietam....Since our regiment has been here, it has been detailed for...the business of slaying the forests around here, in order, to give good range to the guns of the forts....It seems a sin that such beautiful forests should be destroyed, yet the necessities of the time demand it, and ‘Uncle Sam’ pays no respect to ‘persons or property.’ Few among us but would not have rather gone into the battle-field and fought against the enemy than thus destroy the most beautiful works of Nature.”  Says camped between Georgetown and Chain Bridge. “I have never been in Washington since we marched through it last, but have several times been up on the hills which over look the city, and looked down upon it.  Were you ever there?  Did you ever stand upon the hights [sic] above a large city and look down upon it?  I think I never saw a prettier view than to look down upon the city of Washington from a distance where you can see the Capitol—White house, Washington Monument, Smithsonian, and all the large public buildings.”   

Isabella Beecher Hooker to John Hooker, 2 Dec. 1862, Isabella Beecher papers, quoted in L-797  Beecher Sisters

--singing at contraband camp

91-92/  On visit with sister Harriet to see AL and visit H’s son in army.  Visit contraband camp for Thanksgiving dinner—occasion a highlight of their trip more than the visit to AL:  “The contraband choir sang the Moses Song [“Go Down Moses”]—a negro Marsellaise—which is forbidden to them down South.”  Impressed by the “slow, solemn plaintive music....I never heard such before--& would come all the way her for that alone.”

Papa [Samuel Gridley Howe] to “Pipsie” [Laura Elizabeth Howe],  [Washington DC], 20 April 1863, Julia Ward Howe Papers, Houghton

--visit to Arlington contraband camp

“We went yesterday to see the ‘Camp of the Contrabands’ as it is called.  It consists mainly of four long low buildings making a quadrangle with doors opening upon the central square.  They call them houses, but they are merely long sheds divided off by board partitions into rooms about as large as the martin box, but there are packed the runaway slaves, mostly women & little picaninnies [sic]; & they are as thick black & shiny as whortleberries in a can.  They are stowed so closely that in oder to keep out of the cooking stove, & off of the bunks called beds, they are obliged [to] whorl & roll over each other.

“They are very happy & jolly; & all laughed when I asked the how they could  be so cruel as to abandon their old masters & mistress—[‘]yah! yah! them be very dear good way off.’  Dont you want to go back & work on the plantations. Yah! yah! Master!  glad to go back when de Yankees go to take care of we.

“In some of the huts they were holding prayer meeting, & shouting & singing very lustily.

“All were rigged out in the best poor finery they could get—as it was Sunday.

“Some of the young women had on men’s hats & caps with ribbons stuck in the bands.

“There have been about ten thousands of these poor creatures in the camp, but all have now found employment except about one thousand who are waiting to find places.”    

Sam [Dickinson] to “Sis Anna”, Washington, 12 mo 14th 1863, Dickinson Papers, DLC

--contraband camp at Arlington

Say he hopes contraband will be taken out of the hands of the military bureau and put in their own department.  “These Camps are miserable.  I expect soon this camp will be moved to Arlington Heights—understand it is not very healthy there, but tolerably so--& the Camps are very nice & comfortable.  A fine chapel there & a home for say 50 or more families aged & infirm colored.”

AL, Order Directing Tax Commissioners to Bid in the Arlington Estate, 6 Jan. 1864, CW, 

--AL personally directs the sale of Arlington

IX: 214-218/  See for the authorization to confiscate the property 

Cousin Letitia  [Jones] to MCL, fragment, n.d. [c. 1864; speaks of the end of the war being near], MCL(d) Papers, VHS

--furnishings/plunder at Arlington

“Selina searched in vain for your handsome parlor curtains, but they were gone—and now, no doubt they are adorning some of the Yankees’ houses—We brought over your two new parlor carpets and one other, also some stair carpeting—Curtains Pictures and a few small articles—your handsome mantel clock, and a walking cane of your Father’s.

“I hope Roger will be able to get permission for some of the Furniture to be brought here, but I think it very doubtful….The Officer in charge, when we were there, said he had only been there a few days—but if he remained [he] would try and take care of the things, when Roger was over there last summer—you know he had the parlor furniture locked up—but it did not stay there very long—others had it brought down.

“I have heard it is the intention of the U.S. Government to use Arlington for a Hospital—also the Theological Seminary….The thefts & depredations there have been going on from the beginning.  I have heard that so called ‘Ladies’ have not hesitated to come off, boasting of their trophies the result of their pilfering….

“The Union people say they are in fine spirits & that the South is mainly subjugated & the war will soon be over.” 

MCL to Mrs. F. Dickins, n.d. [Spring 1864], DL-LC

--missing Arlington

“I suppose we shall soon now have the spring flowers—ah when I think of mine my heart sinks within me you know how sweet the spring used to be all thro’ that country & especially at one spot.”

“Arlington and Its Proprietors”

Unidentified Newspaper clip, n.d. [c. early spring 1865]

In Benjamin B. French Scrapbook, BBF Papers-LC (Reel 13)

--Arlington at end of war:  paintings, books, furniture

“Mr. Custis took delight in paintings; but the six paintings now hanging in the hall of the Arlington mansion representing battles and Revolutionary incidents, painted by him, evince rather a sorry capacity in the author in that direction.  The walls of this mansion were, however, adorned with some fine specimens of the art.  Among them were several splendid original portraits of Washington—one by the elder Peale, another by Steuart [sic]; and there was also a beautiful portrait of his mother, by the latter- named artist. All these family pictures were taken away by the Lee family when they went into the rebellion.

“The mansion is now occupied by the officer in command of the post and his subordinates.  The dining hall is used as an office.  In this room are three old-fashioned book-cases, containing some four hundred volumes, principally old books—broken sets, and of very small value.  The parlor adjoining the hall is not occupied, the only article in it being a mahogany sideboard, which came from Mount Vernon.  In the parlor beyond are too [sic] sofas and six stuffed mahogany chairs, covered with scarlet velvet; two marble-top tables, a sideboard and a piano stool, matching the chairs.  On the walls are several coarse large portraits, and one or two fine oil paintings.  There are also two old engravings, of a classical, mythological character, hanging with the rest.  The room in the southerly wing, and used by Gen. Lee for his office, is now used as a bed-room; and all the upper part of the mansion is used for a like purpose.  The building is not injured.  The flower garden has been enclosed by a new fence, and is laid out and tastefully adorned this spring.”   

n.b.:  REL has not surrendered at the time this was written, article talks about the ongoing war; article contains many factual errors about the family, so description may also contain inaccuracies.

“The Late President:  M. Augusta Langel’s Reminiscences of Abraham Lincoln,” Philadelphia Press, June 3, 1865, clip in Box 11, Nicolay Papers, LC

--description of Arlington, 1865

“In his walks he saw the beautiful woods cut down to make room for the parapets and glacis of forts; and at a short distance was the large burial ground, where ten thousand graves, all arranged in lines, were still fresh.  I have seen amidst these woods this city of the dead, with its long parallels of alleys, its ten thousand white stones, all alike, and each one marked with the name of a soldier.  One seems to pass in review these interminable ranks, the sameness of which has something terrible.  These soldiers who now sleep in an order which nothing will trouble more, Mr. Lincoln had beheld young, vigorous, and full of health!”  

MCL to Miss Betty Poulson, Derwent, Sept 21st 1865, MoC, typescript AHA

--longing for Arlington, will never relinquish claim

“My heart yearns to the home of my youth the most beloved spot on earth to me and the knowledge of how it is occupied & desecrated is bitter grief to me—Yet I shall never rest until it is restored nor will I ever relinquish my claim to it.  The whole Yankee Nation could not offer a compensation meet for it—Independent of its great natural advantages it  has been the scene of every memory of my life either for joy or sorrow, the graves of my beloved parents rest there—There my children were born & there I was married Every tree they have felled had been cherished with the tendrest care.”

[Smith Lee],  A sketch of a hasty visit to dear old Arlington, n.d. [ 1865; MCL mentions visit of Uncle Smith to Arlington in letter of 9 Dec 1865] fragment, Mary Custis Lee Papers, VHS, Box 21

--description of Arlington Grounds, House, Cemetery c. Sept 1865/ new fences, roads and “dirty straw” color 

“The Freedman’s Bureau village commences just below Bazil Williams’s house—and runs parallel with the Columbia Pike to its juncture with the Arlington & Georgetown Road.  This Road is now macamadizing , and is the width of the Arlington Lane all the way to the aquaduct [sic]—The village crosses the boundry line at the run and extends over the hill just South of the old quarters,--running up to a point near Charles’s house (This hill you know was formerly in woods--) It touches Aunt Sally’s house (Selina’s mother’s) I mean the village,  But does not extend farther upon the old quarter Hill—Nut is bounded there by a Lane fenced on both sides running up obliquely towards the old school house—From the Georgetown Road—on this Lane and near the Road, in the quarter field, there is a large stable—(wooden)—a fence divides the park from the quarter field—all the way up to the cemetery—the entrance gate, stands where it did in our day,--and on the left hand, there is a small house now closed, with printed boards hanging to its side containing the printed Rules & Regulations addressed to its visitors—(“not to drive on the grass or pluck the flowers &c”)  The Road leading up to the House, runs as it did; But is ditched on both sides—and is well graveled.  Up this Road I drove my blooded spanking bay, viewing as I rode along, the broad park—its forest trees & rising Hills—on the top of the Hill, there are four Roads—and leading around to the house—and to the back of the House—The other to the stable—and the fourth to the cemetery—just as they used to do, in our day, only with this exception—They are well graveled, and broader—my horse being left to himself, to pick his own Road, like a sensible family horse, chose the one leading to the back part of the house—There I was met by the person who attends to the visitors—and was politely invited in—he having learnt my name from Selina—I was taken into the parlour, which is now an office, and in looking around, I recognized the three old bookcases nearly filled with the old books found up in the garret—The officer in charge, soon made his appearance, Inviting me to a seat &c—presently I asked to see the house and was taken to every room, except your chamber up stairs—and Mr C’s office in the South wing, which is now used as a private office—All the chambers were locked up—Here & there, I saw some of the old furniture—For instance the two maroon sofas—several chairs to match—an old ‘timey’ bureau—a small marble table—a black French bedstead, & wardrobe same color—The house was clean , and not injured any where that I could see,--The marble mantles in the dining room & parlour were not injured—some of the veneering had been taken off the side of the marble table by visitors—Most of Mr C’s paintings are still hanging up on both sides of the passage,--and the old Buckhorns are still standing.  In the reception room, & Rooms adjoining are the Williams’ paintings.  It seems everything has been taken away from the House saving the few things I have mentioned—and the officer in charge could give no account of them—Standing on the front steps, the park; & all the surroundings, looked of days gone—I do not think many trees have been taken out if any there may be one here & there—There are no graves in the park , or on the farm—only at the grand cemetery, back of the house beyond the line where the fence stood west of the stable—Here there are some 8000—all the woods have been cut down every where—except in the park—and the surroundings about the house—The Family burying ground, has been fenced in—Some of the letters on Mr C’s tomb has [sic]been slightly defaced—the flower garden, is in fine order, and is well cared for.  The walks are all graveled—and upon the whole, the garden is in better order than I have ever seen it—The old honey suckle, has died down—and in its place, a summer house has been erected—the grove has been thrown out, and the paling moved in—as is also the paling near the house, thus shortening in the garden on the tow sides—The garden presents its old form pretty nearly—The greenhouse is filled with plants, flowers &c—Now comes the most objectionable part of my history—Between the garden fence, and the Road leading up to the house—there are officers graves all along the said Road around to the woods—The old fence has been replaced by a straight paling fence—and the Road runs straight too—you may remember the old fence curving—and the Road with it—The ground has been raised to receive the graves—and each grave is marked with the name date &c.  These graves are most conspicuous—and are just in a place where they can’t be shut out from view—The vegetable garden is in about the same order as in ‘brother’ Ephraim’s day—The House—outhouses, and stable, have been yellow washed—a dirty straw colour—The old Ice house still standing—there is a gravel road running between Selina’s house & the garden fence, very convenient to drive around to the back yard to water the horses—a well has taken the place of the dump—The back yard is laid out circle fashion—all the walks & Roads are graveled—The stable yard is enclosed—The whole of the land on the house side, west of the Georgetown Road is enclosed with a good paling fence—from boundary to boundary—there is a small neat cemetery at the line nearest GeoTn—which used to be in woods—and a gateway leading up to the house—similar to  the one in front—The farm is in good order—But badly inclosed [sic]—The overseer’s house, & brick barn are still standing—The ‘canal’ has been broken up—and all the buildings are to be sold—This canal was near the barn—The field nearest Mason’s line looks as if it had not been in cultivation.  The field next to it was in corn—and those south of the Road in grass—I drove from one end of the line to the other—and down a good gravel Road to the overseers house to see him,—But he was not in—He is about moving to his own place near Cassius Lees—I have been thus particular in mentioning everything, in order that you may see in your ‘minds eye’ how matters stand at this day—The officer in charge & the porter were very kind & polite—and seemed most anxious to show me everything—The officer, went all over the grounds with me—[narrative ends]”            
REL to MCL, Lexington, Va., 9 Oct ’65, DE-LC

--Arlington post-war
“All accounts agree in representing A[rlington] in an unenviable condition for a future residence even if it can be recovered.  I hope it will be recovered but I cannot move in the matter, until the Pres: shall think proper to include me in his proclamation of amnesty.  If I can recover it, I think it will be better to relinquish it to Custis & let him do with it as he thinks best.  It will be all the same a hundred years hence, when all that we are interested in will have ceased from troubling.”

MCL to Mrs. H.R. Glenn, 23 Nov 1865, LFP-WL

--MCL feels exiled from Arlington

“…I feel like such an exile until I get back to my beloved Arlington.”

REL to Reverdy Johnson, Lexington, Va: 27 Jany 1866, REL Letterbook #3, LFP-VHS

--REL continued concern about Custis affairs

Asks Johnson to aid him in settling the estate.   “…I have been unable to place his grandchildren in possession of the property bequeathed them.  A portion of his landed property has been sold by the Government in the belief, I presume, that it belonged to me….”

n.b.:  govt had sold Arlington, 4-mile run, Smith’s Island 
MCL to B Losing, Lexington, February 20th, 1866, CL-LC

--bitterness over loss of Arlington

“I ought not to hurt myself to write…of that cherished house so rich in relics of the Father of his Country where reposed every memory of my life & the graves of my beloved parents, now ravaged, desecrated, the fine oak, which had been cherished for 50 years & [now] leveled to the ground & the graves of those who have wrought an [?] planted up to our very door—” 

MCL to B Losing, Lexington, February 20th, 1866, CL-LC

--Washington letters buried 
 “…I find the package containing the correspondence with you concerning the publication of my Father’s Recollections are among the few which are not litteraly sic] destroyed   All the rest comprising many letters of Washington with pictures & mementoes of happier days are gone from the necessity of their being buried to secured them from Hunter & his vandals—I ought not to trust myself to write on this subject….”

n.b.  See letter of Lossing to Henry Wilson, July 19, 1870,  in which he had misread this letter to read “burned” vice “buried”

Benson J. Losing to MCL, unsent draft, Poughkeepsie NY, March 2 1866, Lossing Papers, LC

--distressed at MCL destruction of property

“Had the Letters of Washington, and other mementoes of the Past, which you say you destroyed ‘to secure them from Hunter and his Vandals!” as you are pleased to call them, fallen into the hands of Union soldiers, the most obscure among them, as well as officers of every degree, would have cherished them as things too precious to be allowed to perish.”

REL to William H. Hope, Lexington, Va:  April 5, 1866, in LXXV  Jones, Personal Reminiscences

--REL does not know fate of Arlington/financial situation

246/  “I am greatly obliged to you…for the interest you express for the fate of Arlington.  I should like to recover it, that I might, as the executor of Mr. G.W.P.Custis, carry out the provisions of his will.  I  did not know that it had been sold for taxes on the 11th of January, 1864, as stated in the newspaper slip you inclosed [sic].”

See for remarks about use of grounds etc being enough to pay the taxes—and concludes that if it “should require the $26,060, stated to have been bid for it by the United States, to be refunded, it would be out of my power to redeem it.”

REL to MCW, Lexington, 7 April 1866 in Lee, To Markie
-- Arlington post war
69/  “I did not approach Arlington nearer than the railway which leads to the city.  I know very well how things are there, & you had better get all your books, pictures &c. you can.”

MCL to Miss Emily Mason, Lexington 20th April 1866, MoC, typewcript, AHA

--bitterness over Arlington

“I have passed a quiet & tolerably comfortable winter but my heart will never know rest or peace while my dear home is so used & I am almost maddened daily by the accounts I read in the papers of the number of interments continually paced there.  My faith & patience on the subject is nearly exhausted—yet I suppose nothing can be expected from the set now in power—My home was too beautiful; stretched out before their eyes to escape their avarice & covetousness for certainly the pretext of buying it for taxes was the merest pretence to cover the injustice and spite of those who concocted the plan of getting it into their power.  Its former associations if nothing else should have saved it from the present desecration.  If justice & law are not utterly extinct in the U.S. I will  have it back….I should think the atmosphere of Washington now must be sickening—I blush even for those there who glory in their shame—”

MCL to [Reverdy Johnson (on address)], draft letter, n.d., c 1866, MCL-VHS (section 42)

--requests interments cease/malicious intent at Arlington
Asks Johnson to approach president on the subject of Arlington—says she is reluctant to bother him herself. “(I have no doubt Genl Meigs is acting under orders from Secretary Stanton, who has used my property in this manner with the avowed  intention of preventing our ever returning to it) [parentheses penciled in].  Cannot I enter a protest an order be given against any further interments at Arlington?  It is my childhood’s house, dearer to me than my life….[see notes on slavery for this portion of the letter] The property was never abandoned—I was warned off shortly before the Federal army took possession & a manager was left in charge with all things pertaining to the House & Farm.  I think it might have been spared its present desecration  occupation if not for my sake, at least for its former associations….If you will be kind enough to write me a few lines of advice as to the best course for me to pursue I shall owe you a debt of gratitude[.]  Tell me if you think a letter from me to President Johnson would be of any avail, for I feel great hesitation in troubling him—”    
MCL to ? Sprague, Lexington, 29th May 1866, Greatz Collection, Pa Historical Society, typescript AHA

--bitterness over Arlington

“My own beautiful home which should have been sacred even from the enemy for its hallowed associations, has been occupied & pillaged for the last 5 years.  I believe the efforts made by malignant enemies to deprive us of it eventually will fail, yet it  is difficult to wait in patience….”
W[illiam] B Sprague to MCL, Albany, June 6, 1866, MCL-VHS (section 25)

--Recollections of Arlington 1815-16
Sprague was a tutor at Woodlawn, home Nelly Custis Lewis.”I scarcely suppose it possible that you would have any recollection of me, though my remembrance of you is as vivid almost as if but a single year had passed since I saw you....I never hear of Mrs General Lee without thinking of the germ of that lady, which I used to know in little Mary Custis.  You were a little bit of a girl then—I do not know exactly how old, but you will know when I tell you that it was in the winter of 1815-16.  Of your father I have very pleasant and distinct recollections, but no one in the whole circle has left upon my mind a more enduring or grateful impression than your excellent mother.  I remember how gentle and obliging and considerate and conscientious she was in everything. I had myself then just made a profession of religion by joining old Dr.Muir’s church [the Old Presbyterian Church] in Alexandria; and I well remember to have been struck with the deep interest she manifested in every thing (2) like personal and spiritual religion.  I do not remember whether your father’s family attended church generally at Georgetown or Alexandria, but on one of the two or three Sabbaths that I spent at Arlington, I recollect our going down the hill and crossing over the river to Georgetown, and attending at a church where Mr Addison, a thin, pale faced man, preached; and after service we went to Mr Peter’s, where we dined with several members of Congress, among them was Timothy Pickering of Massachusetts....My two pupils (Lorenzo and Agnes, whom we used to call Lolen and Fal) accompanied me to Arlington, though I do not remember that there was any studying done during the visit, as I think the object was merely to have ‘a good time.’ Angela (little Ped) too, I think, must have been along, as she was so young that her mother would scarcely have left her at home.  I remember perfectly the little room in which I slept, and if that part of the house remains unchanged, I am almost certain that I could go directly to it.  Indeed all the surroundings of the place, as it then was, are perfectly familiar to me.”   

MCL to Andrew Johnson, July 28, 1866, copy in MCL hand, MCL-VHS (section 42)

--MCL petition to President Johnson for return of furnishings/cessation of interments

“Mr President

       I have hesitated to trouble you with my own affairs but I fear delay now may involve [?] the loss of all that is left in my home—will you give me the authority to remove to some place of safety the furniture that remains at Arlington, which having been neither sold or [sic] confiscated I should suppose would revert naturally to me.  My daughter who has recently visited the place informs me that many articles have been taken away—My inability to travel so far has alone prevented my presenting my petition in person—to one who I know has never disregarded the prayers of the distressed[.] If you would order a suspension of the interments which I hear are daily being made at Arlington with the avowed purpose of preventing my return you would confer an inestimable favour upon one who though unknown begs leave to subscribe herself most truly & respectfully yours.

                                                                                   

MC Lee

To his Excellency

Andrew Johnson

President of the United States”

MCL to “My dear friend, Lexington, October 12th [1866?], LFP-WL

--Arlington post war

“Col. Taylor has expressed much sympathy in my wrongs that he may perhaps aid me in regard to the things taken from Arlington—What has been saved is of little value save  from association….You may think it strange I should not have secured all moveable articles before I left Washington, but I had such confidence in the honor of the U.S. officers I thought the place would be guarded respected & also hoped to return in a few days or weeks & secure many things but ere this was accomplished I heard that the place was occupied by U.S. troops.”
MCL to Florence Marshall, Lexington, January 30, 1867, Custis-Lee MS., AHA

--anxiety over Arlington

“Does Louis know the former governor of Idaho Caleb Lyons?  He carried many relics from Arlington & placed them in the patent Office in Washington & as he professed great regard for our family I hope he did so to preserve them for me & should like to know if such was the case—You cannot know what a bitter trial the present desecration of my dear home is to me[.]  I pray for strength to bear it more calmly than I do—…my heart yearns for my early home plundered and changed a I know it is—Had I been able to go to Washington myself, I might I believe have gotten it long since but alas I cannot travel and President Johnson has so much to contend with I do not like to trouble him with applications by letter.  Though I fear this delicacy of feeling is wasted & will delay the restoration of my  property—It is so hard to be patient.”   

O[rville] H Browning [Secretary of the Interior] to MCL, Washington DC, February 24, 1869, MCL-VHS (section 42)

--Attempt to return Arlington relics to MCL

    “I am directed by the President to inform you that in accordance with the request contained in your note to him of the 16th inst.  All the relics from Mount Vernon bequeathed to you by your father, George Washington Parke Custis, which were taken from Arlington and which are now deposited in the Patent Office, will, upon being properly identified, be delivered to such agent as you may designate, and authorize to receive and receipt for them in your name.

   “With sentiments of high regard….”

n.b.:  Congress subsequently refused to allow them to be returned.  See Benson Lossing to Henry Wilson, July 19, 1870 (below)   

Benson Lossing to Henry Wilson, “The Ridge,” Dover, N.Y., July 19, 1870, Henry Wilson Papers, LC

--Lossing works against return of Arlington relics

“I have been much gratified by the refusal of Congress to place in the custody of Mrs. Robert E. Lee, Mount Vernon relics.  I know her to be utterly unworthy of such a trust, and believe her motives to be wholly mercenary.  I should have written so, before the decision, but the relations I hold to Mrs. Lee as the compiler of her father’s Memoirs and Recollections of Washing. And joint partner in the copy-right of the book first published in 1860 has deterred me.

“Immediately after the war, Mrs. Lee wrote to me concerning the book, in which letter she indulged in the most bitter remarks about the northern people….In that letter she said ‘You remember the precious momentoes of Washington which you frequently saw at Arlington House.  They were destroyed to prevent their ‘falling into the hands of Hunger and his Vandals.’

“These precious things were Washington’s account books, letters, etc.

“In her letters since she has had many bitter words to say, but to those I have never replied….I did say in reply to her assurance that relics of Washington had been destroyed that ‘the meanest soldier in Hunger’s Army would have had more reverence for the writing of Washington than to have destroyed a scrap of it.’

“Such a person is wholly unfit of such a trust, and I hope Congress may never entertain such a memorial again, excepting by respectfully laying it upon the table.” 

A[nna]M[aria] F[itzhugh] to MCL(d),  Alexandria, Nov 10th 1870, MCL(d) Papers-VHS (section 22)

--building Arlington

“The building of the house at Arlington I well remember, but strange to say there is nothing that recalls the date to me—The brickyard was back of the stable towards the old race course—but I do not know where the bricks were burnt—I assume the same year, in the spring, that the walls were put up—It may have been in 1816, but I cannot venture an opinion—”

 Cassius F. Lee to MCL, Menoken, April 14 ’70, MCL-VHS (section 42)
--Fendall paying taxes/question of whether he did so
“Mr Reuban Johnston does not recollect being with Mr. Fendall when he made the tender of the taxes.  I hope his sons will be able to give such a certificate as will be recd  as evidence of the fact.  I have no doubts the tender was made for both the Arlington & the Mill tract.  The latter was bought by some person in N.Y. & I learn that his agent has expressed…the opinion that he will give up the property, & look to the U.S. to refund the money. If we get the certificate from Wm Fendall that we hope to obtain Mr Smith will take your petition to Genl Grant—but will not do so till the joint resolution lately passed by the House of Reps & now in the Senate to return to you the relics has been acted on by the Senate.”

n.b.—Senate does not pass resolution.  Also see C[assius] F. Lee, to”cousin”, Guelph, Nov 27, 1863, Philip R. Fendall Papers, DU in notebook under “Field of Honor” for more question about whether taxes were ever paid.

Markie [Martha Custis Williams to MCL, Philadelphia, December 10, 1870, MCL-VHS (section 26)

--Markie on tax issue:  perhaps Mr Marshall paid taxes

“Please tell me when you write how the matter of taxes was settled—Did Mr Marshall offer to pay the taxes & the government refuse to take the payment—To whom did the government pay the sum for wh[ich] they profess to have bought the place—I am quite anxious to know all about it—”

Cassius F. Lee to MCL, Menoken, December 20 ’70, MCL-VHS (section 26)

--advises giving up idea of reclaiming Arlington/should settle for payment

“I think there is not the least chance that the Federal government will notsurrender Arlington in yr day, or in the life of any now living.  What doubt there may have been heretofore, the recent discussion & feeling manifested in the Senate shoud remove.  I have conversed with a number of friends in reference to the matter, there is no difference of opinion.  I was in Washn yesterday & had a conversation with Mr Johnston, the Senator from Va as to the best course for you to pursue.  He promised to consult with friends in Congrss & write to me.  Of this, however, he was positive, the Federals would not allow their dead to be removed or surrender their burial place.  They only hope is, they may buy the place  & pay a liberal price for it.  The question is, when is the best time to propose this, & it was on this point that I requested MR Johnston to consult with the Democratic members & write to me.  My conviction is, that it ought to be done by you. If postponed till after your death, the feeling agt Custis will be as strong as against his father, & they will be far less likely to pay him than you.  I know it is a hard struggle to give up a home—identified with so many pleasant memories—I fully realize this & if there was a reasonable hope I would advise you to hold on—but I do not see one. If you can then come to this conclusion yourself, I see no good that can result from delay, & the sooner you get paid for it the bête for you & your children—When your husband was here last summer, I think he had abandoned nearly all hope of getting Arlington back, & had about concluded it was best to let the U.S. buy it, if they would.  The fact is the Democratic members of Congress, however well disposed, would be afraid to vote to surrender the plac—they would be afraid of the popular feeling at the North.

  “As regards the sum that ought to be paid for Arlington, I really have no opinion, & if you make up your mind to let the U.S. buy it you will have to say what you are willing to let them have it at [unreadable] I said in my letter not less than $150,000, I have not named that or any other sum to any person, & shall not.”  [Says he is happy to be of service.]    

Cassius F. Lee to MCL, Menoken, Jany 18/’71, MCL-VHS (section 26)

--strategy for payment for Arlington

See notebook for this entire letter, which lays out strategy with Supreme Court

Francis L. Smith to Mrs. General Robert E. Lee,  Alexandria, Va., Feby 5th 1871, MCL-VHS (section 42)

--unfortunate Senate resolution vis a vis MCL/Arlington

Says he is trying to undo joint title with MCL and GWCL.   “But for the resolution, introduced by McCreery [possibly Thomas C McCreery, D-Ky—check] in the Senate, of the U.S. which resulted so unfortunately, I should have felt great confidence, that a bill might have been gotten through, at the present session of Congress, carrying with it the proposition evidenced in the memorial.”

 Francis L. Smith to Mrs. General Robert E. Lee,  Alexandria, Va., Feby 23rd 1871, MCL-VHS (section 42)

--price for Arlington/unfortunate Senate resolution/shaky evidence that taxes were tendered
Says has consulted with DC businessmen such as Messrs Corcoran, Bradley and Carlisle and agree that should get $300,000 or $200,000 for 200 acres and mansion.  Trying to drum up support with newspapers.  “Great caution however, should be used, so that no such mistake, be made, as that committed by Mr McCreery, for whilst his resolution was undoubtedly well intended, it did a vast amount of mischief.  The present proposition, I hope will rather disarm than provoke opposition.”

On attempted payment of taxes”  “I have carefully considered your suggestion, in reference to the terms, in which the memorial, refers to the tender of the direct tax assessed upon “Arlington”.  This subject, of a tender, of the tax, was very thoroughly investigated by myself, previous to Genl Lee’s last visit to Alexa & by us together during that visit. Mr Cassius Lee, who is entirely familiar with the evidence, on which, we we [sic] rely to establish a tender, fully concurs with me, that the statement in the memorial, on this point, is strong enough.  The evidence is chiefly circumstantial tho: I think strong enough, to convince any fair-minded man, that the tender was made, not by Judge Marshall but by Mr Philip Fendall, at his request.  We do not think, that it would be wise at this time, to disclose the names of the witnesses, or more particularly the facts, on which we rely.  We feel satisfied that yourself, Mr Tucker, and your son Genl Custis Lee, would upon a full presentation of the facts, concur in this view of the subject.” 
Cassius F. Lee to MCL, Menoken, Jany 18/’71, MCL-VHS (section 26)

--witness of tax paying
“In reference to the tender of taxes, I have no doubt they were tendered, & we think it can be satisfactorily proved, but it was though best not to say more on that point at present.  Mr Fendall being dead, the best testimony we now have is a Mr Janney who was, at the time, a clerk in the office of the Commissioner of taxes, & who waspresent when the tender was made—he states the fact, but as he is now an office holder, he does not wish his name to be used till it is really necessary.”

Francis L. Smith to Mrs. General Robert E. Lee,  Alexandria, Va., March 13th 1871, MCL-VHS (section 42)

--petition before Congress—tabled on party lines—confident of success in court

Says has MCL’s petition before the Congress, Butler has it tabled, vote strictly on party lines though one radical admitted the army did not need all the land.  Butler instills idea “that it was an application to disturb the remains of the Union soldiers, when just the reverse would be the effect of passing the bill….I trust we shall succeed next session, in obtaining the passage of a proper bill, but should the malignity of politicians throw obstacles in the way—& we are driven to the courts, success there is certain beyond any doubt.  It is desirable to avoid litigation, if possible—”  

B[ritannia] [Peter] W Kennon to MCL(d), Tudor Place, Oct. 20th [c. 1871-75], fragment or combination of two letters, MCL-VHS

--portraits of John Custis, sea paintings, picture of young woman/ engravings/ antlers/ gilt-framed mirror from Mt Vernon/ gilt brackets from Mt Vernon/ books of engravings/frames/misc./ jewelry

“‘The fragile looking young female with flowers in hand’ is here also two portraits of I think Old Mr John Custis who married F. Parke, in addition to those I have in my garret, where they have all been for the last ten years all the pictures painted by dear Uncle, I think there are some of those old sea paintings, one or two engravings, antlers, a looking glass framed in gilt& two gilt brackets from Mt. Vernon, a tall glass shade for a candle or lamp, a glass globe for a lamp, & I may find some other little things that I cant [sic] think of at the moment. When I sent the frames, books of engravings, Uncle’s picture, engravings, &c &c. &c. two falls ago, dear Cousin Mary asked me to keep these things a little longer until she knew, or could find a place to put them….The two Custis portraits are both injured, one looks as if it had been punched with some tool….The little pearl pin to which you allude—I feel sure was the gift of my precious Mother to dear Cousin M. at the time of her marriage--& I believe has in it, Genl & Mrs W’s hair—I could tell in a moment by seeing it,--& comparing it with what I have.  about [sic] the buttons, pin, & ring, I cannot say, unless I could see the hair to compare it—I feel almost sure about pin mother gave having the Genl & Mrs W’s hair….[ missing a page or possibly from a different letter] And now dear Mary about your things.  You know I sent a wagon load of frames &c &c to your dear Mother about two years ago--& previously carpets, curtains, clocks &c &c &c so what remains now are as follows-- I believe

All of Uncles pictures

2 of Old John Custis

1 a Lady with a flower

1 looking glass from Mt Vernon

2 Gilt brackets

1 Glass Shade (tall) for a Candle

1 glass globe for lamp….[page missing or possibly from a different letter] Extract from Miss Wigfall’s Will ‘To Mrs Genl R.E. Lee I leave the pearl cross given me by her relative Mrs. Lear.  The pearls were part of a necklace given Mrs. Lee on the occasion of her wedding by her Aunt Mrs. Washington’….When you come & see me which I hope you will do soon as you can, bring your little trinkets--& I think I may be able by comparison to decide for you the hair, & whenever you will send for the pictures & I will see that they are properly delivered to the person directed to receive them.” 

MCL to [Francis] Smith, draft letter, 10th Jany 1873, fragment, MCL-VHS (section 42)

--MCL desires to go to courts/ willing to offer title to US 

Says that Congress has taken no action in her behalf and therefore “I have no recourse but to see Justice in the Courts—when my right is favorably adjudicated as it must be if justice prevails—I shall hold myself ready to offer my title to the United States at my fair valuation of the property….” 

MCL, Petition of Widow of REL, Jan 22, 1873, Senate Misc. Documents, 42nd Congress 2nd Session

--petitioning for the return of Arlington

Does not specifically mention Fendall or the tax incident only:  “Your petitioner would further show that she is informed, and has reason to believe that it is susceptible of proof, that the amount of the direct tax so assessed upon ‘Arlington’ was tendered to the tax commissioners prior to the sale.”

Petitions Congress for $300,000 for the property 

MCL to Mrs. Cocke, [Lucy W Oliver Cocke], Hot Springs, June 20th 1873, Cocke Family Papers, UVa

--MCL last visit to Arlington

Visits Alexandria in spring:  “There were several weddings to come off in the family connection one while I was there that made it very gay, which Alexa had not been for some time.  It was a great satisfaction to me to meet so many old friends, who all welcomed me so cordially, then I rode out to my dear old home but so changed it seemed but as a dream of the past—I could not have realised [sic] that it was Arlington but for the few old oaks they had spared & the trees planted on the lawn by the Genl & myself which are raising their tall branches to the Heaven which seems to smile on the desecration around them—I did not get out of the carriage but the young friends who were with me went all over—” 

n.b.:  trip may have been in conjunction with attempt to recover Arlington. Says  she has been giving interviews—see Washington Chronicle
U.S. vs Lee, December 4, 1882, Supreme Court Reporter, Vol I; Cases Argued and Determined in the U.S. Supreme Court, October Term 1882 (St. paul:  West Publicshing Company 1883, p. 247)

--citation for GWCL case for return of Arlington

Mildred Lee Recollections in ALJ, July 20th 1890, DE-LC (also printed at end of deButts, ed., Growing Up in the 1850s )

--Mildred’s garden

Says favorite haunt was a wooden bench in the garden under a syringa bush; speaks of father fathering roses for the girls places at breakfast; Mama directing gardener Louis; wearing white sun bonnet; Markie and Mary’s suitors there; the Grove—a place of mystery—went their to read and crack hickory nuts 

L-185/
Chittenden,  Personal Reminiscences (1893)
--AL sees trees being cut at Arlington—like waves/questions own leadership
316-17/  Says AL witnessed “a singular scene”  from Potomac side of Treasury bldg.  “The Virginia hills were covered with an original forest of noble chestnuts and other deciduous trees.  They began to fall as if a resistless wave had swept over them, all in one direction, many acres of them at a time.  To one who did not understand the cause it was almost frightful, and suggested an earthquake. As was not unusual, a colored messenger had brought the first information that the Sixth Maine, a regiment of lumbermen, would attack the forest on that day.  They cut the trees until they were almost ready to fall, and then, selecting those on the outside which would fall in the same direction, felled them at the same moment.  As they struck, the trees nearest them also fell, and the whole forest went down like a row of bricks standing on end.  A Treasury officer explained that the scene was the work of the Maine wood-choppers.

“ ‘I don’t believe,’ said the President, ‘that there is a man in that regiment with longer arms than mine or who can swing an axe better than I can.  By jings!  I should like to change works with one of them.  Sometimes I think that a private could run (317) the engine better than I do!  I would like to see all the soldiers in the rebel armies falling like those trees!  And then I would like to see them all rise up as loyal men and stand upon their feet!’  If this expression was blood-thirsty, it was the worst which I heard from his lips during the war.”   

CCCXXXVI  Sherwood, “Washington Before the War,” Lipppincott’s Monthly Magazine, August 1894

--Arlington in 1849

261/  “I remember that we [ she and Lydia Sigorney] drove to Arlington one sunny afternoon, late in May, a delicious day, and we found the ladies, Mrs. Custis and Mrs. Lee expecting us.  We had tea in the Washington teacups, and Mrs. Lee took me into the tangled neglected gardens, full of rosebushes, and allowed me to pick my fill of the sweet dainty Bon Silene variety, which she told me blossomed all winter.  What a view that was!....

“The slaves about Arlington were an ever indulged race, and things were not very neat.  A ploughshare was left sticking in the garden for many years.  The old pillars on the piazza needed much mortar & yellow wash.  It all looked Southern and neglected, but it was most interesting….I often drove to Arlington for New Year’s Day visits….”   

MiCL, “Reminiscences of Mother,” Lexington, Dec. 11th 1894, DE-LC

--word portrait of MCL and return to Arlington

“To the end and that date of 1873…her heart was ever turned to Arlington—the fair scenes of her life’s best happiness.  She did once revisit it—not long before her death & I remember her saying that she never cared to see it again.  Before that she had had a great yarning to once more see it—so on the last visit to Aunt Maria Fitzhugh she drove out.  The cruel changes—the vulgar graves and monuments—the glaring names of Lincoln, Grant, Sherman & Sheridan sank deep in the soul & she knew it was the last glance she should  give to places once so holy & sacred.”

XXXVII  Lee, General Lee
--description of Arlington

26-27/  Unnamed source quoted on “Beautiful old Arlington”:  “Its broad portico and widespread wings, held out open arms, as it were, to welcome the coming guest.  Its simple Doric columns graced domestic comfort with a classic air.  Its halls and chambers were adorned with the patriots and heroes and with illustrations and relics of the Great Revolution and of the ‘Father of His Country’, and without and within, history and tradition seemed to breathe their legends upon a canvas as soft as a dream of place.”

L-389  Hoge Memoir  (1867)

--short description of Arlington—not completely accurate/blaming REL

93/  “On the road to Alexandria, we passed Arlington, the former dwelling-place of the rebel General Lee; the deluded man, who left this stately mansion, with its magnificent surroundings, to raise his parricidal hand against the beneficent Government that had protected, fostered, educated, and intrusted [sic]him with great responsibilities and high position.  The proud old manor-house had been made the headquarters of the Union army and the freedmen alternately, and its lawns the burial place of the nation’s dead—a signal rebuke of inexcusable treachery.”  

Charles Francis Adams, Jr.  Address at Mass Hist. Society, Feb. 1909, on AL first inauguration in L-362  Wilson Intimate Memories: 372:    
“One of the incidents I most clearly remember in those days was a morning horseback ride, in company with a sister, across the Potomac to Arlington. Colonel Lee, as he then was, had been, if I remember

right, on duty in Texas, but was known to be on his way to Washington. I had shortly before been a guest of the Lee family, dining at Arlington. On the particular morning to which I refer—a typical

Virginia spring morning, with the verdure just beginning to show on the trees and in the fields—my sister and I had ridden over to Arlington, where we had passed half an hour or so in company with the

members of the Lee family—Mrs. Lee and her daughters. As we rode homeward down the driveway toward the Potomac, we met a hack, apparently from the station, driving up to the house. Behind it a

trunk was strapped; and, as we passed, a man of fifty or thereabouts, with regular features and a grayish beard, turned toward us, evidently curious as to who we might be. I have always believed it was Colonel

Lee, just back from Texas. If so, that was the only time I ever set eyes upon him. Never fully satisfied in my own mind that it was he, I have none the less a curiously distinct recollection of the look of inquiry on the face as the occupant of the vehicle glanced suddenly out with a startled expression—so to speak, taking us in.”
L-840  Bayne   Tad’s Father (c. 1930s)

--REL Arlington Sunday-school picnic/ AL uses joke
54/  “...I unwittingly furnished him one story which I afterwards learned he used in his characteristic way to illustrate a point he was trying to make.  I had been telling Mrs. Lincoln and the boys about having gone to Arlington on a Sunday-school picnic before the war, and how General Lee—he had the rank of colonel then—met the bus and jumped us all out of it, and what a pleasant, gracious host he had been to us that day.  We had one very fat girl in the party who was sensitive about her weight and had defeated all conversational attempts of the curious to ascertain it.  She sat in the very end of the bus an as soon as all the rest of us were out, the boys drove hurriedly to the hay scales by the Negro quarters and weighed the bus with Lucy in it.  Then, after helping her out with profuse (55) apologies, they weighed the empty bus.  And Lucy’s weight was a mystery no longer.

“Mr. Lincoln sat at the window reading a newspaper while I was telling this story and I did not know at the time he was listening.  But a day or two later Willie said, ‘I heard Pa tell your story about the fat girl to-day.’

“Naturally I was interested and asked how the President came to tell my story.  ‘Why,’ answered Willie, ‘he was talking to some men about the war and one of them said he wished they knew how big an army the rebels had in Virginia, and Pa said why didn’t they find out, and the man said they’d tried to, and then Pa told your story about weighing the fat girl.’” 

S. Prosper Landry to Mrs. William J. Behan, Donadsville, 9 April 1902, MCL-VHS (section 37)

--remembers Arlington Spring
Says has been invited to meet MCL(d) and fills him with memories:  “I lived six years in sight of Arlington—I often drank of that spring in front of the house near the Potomac river—I often saw the venerable Mr. Custis, who seldom failed to honor our Georgetown College celebrations of the 22nd Feby. and 4th of July with a speech full of reminiscences of George Washington—“[goes on to describe Appomattox—see War -1865]

Remarks of Mrs. PR Alger, Annapolis, Md., 1957, MC Meigs Papers, 918, 202), Reel 16, LC

--Mrs. Meigs recollections of Arlington

“My mother remembered so well going there with her mother to call on Mrs. Lee before the war.  And then in those days that hill that comes down to the water was a plowed cornfield and in the back of the house was the big circle of the negro quarters, cottages close together.  The east room, the great room, was now plastered and behind the columns at the end of the back as you enter were turkey red curtains, stuff called turkey red was brought in by the ships, ballast I guess, very thick, heavy deep red cotton stuff made in Turkey and over the front door was a lion couchant, heraldic, and going up the steps were Hessian soldiers and those were all painted by Washington’s son, Mr. Custis.” 

Secondary Sources
DCCXXXII     Lynch,  The Custis Chronicles

--purchase of Arlington property

147-49/  See of advertisement of Arlington and for GW’s take on buying the property 
CXXXV Decker and McSween.  Historic Arlington

--Custis hospitality

35/  “He  cared no whether the wayfarer that entered his grounds was shabbily dressed, or arrayed in purple and fine linen.  One was as welcome as the other, and neither was allowed to depart until he had feasted with his host and pledged his health in a glass of something invigorating….Mr. Custis’ kindly entertainment of the stranger at his gates did not call forth the show of public condemnation that it would now.  But indeed Custis would have cared little if it had.”

36/  Says GWPC like to tire out everyone hunting—banquets at Arlington scenes of “delightful gaiety” when he would relate stories of his youth 

CCCXI Torbert,  Eleanor Calvert and Her Circle

--Arlington beginnings and Arlington social circle

75/  Circle that had orbited around Mount Vernon and spreading circle of Custis, Stuart, Calvert and Lee families—Stier & Le Havre families from Riversdale as well

89/  Elizabeth Corbin and Richard Bland Lee part of the mix as well as the Alexandria social group of Lees, Fairfaxes, Fitzhughs, Wests, Carlyles, Herberts and Hooes, Pages, Burwells, Armisteads

101/  GWPC tries to buy Mount Vernon (see letter quoted) in 1802 after the death of Mrs. Washington.  Bushrod Washington did not want to sell “or rather his wife would not agree.”
CCCXI Torbert,  Eleanor Calvert and Her Circle
--Hadfield at Arlington

116/  Latrobe who had been burned in the generally contentious atmosphere  of building the capitol, says that Washington had sided with Thornton over Hadfield in design of the capitol and Hadfield, scarred, had retreated from the field.  “Hadfield [has] lost the most precious period of his life…He loiters here ruined in tempter and reputation , nor will his irritable pride and neglected study ever permit him to take the station in art which his elegant taste and excellent talent ought to have obtained.”

CCCXXXIII
Schwartz, Barry.  George Washington

--cult of Washington
1-2/  By centennial of birth in 1832 near canonization .  Augustin Smith Slayton, when debating whether Washington remains should be enshrined in the Capitol:  “Mount Vernon and Mount Cavalry will descent to posterity with extensive remembrance.

2-3/  under hand of Weems (1800) earliest publicist—the almost mythical veneration begins—product of later efforts not too different; object of emotional attachment and symbol of values

101/  Weems account includes a first hand account of Washington’s ascent into heaven—apotheosis already realized by 1800

84-85/  important component of nation building:  “To the Man who Unites All Hearts.”

77-79/  celebration of his birthday had become custom by 1791—Federalists reveled in them, but actually was an important public ritual to reaffirm common national sentiments—unity of collective ideas

170-77/  Washington piety—an agent of God’s plan, divinely touched though Washington was reticent about his religiosity and did not affirm Christian principles beyond regular attendance at church

171/  Bishop White:  “I do not that any degree of recollection will bring to my mind any fact which would prove General Washington to have been a believer in the Christian revelations; further than as may be hoped from his constant attendance on Christian worship.” 

194/  Between 1800 and 1860 American writers produce 400 books on Washington:  John Adams complained in 1812 of the “idolatrous worship paid to the name of George Washington”;  1815 a Russian visitor said that every American considered it a “sacred duty to have an image of Washington in his home

DCCXXXII    Lynch,  The Custis Chronicles
--Custis love of gardens

75-77/  MCL love of gardens came to her at least partly by inherited tradition.  See these pages for ancestor John Custis’s interest in botany.

LXXIX    Clinton, The Plantation Mistress

--Arlington typical and atypical

5/  Arlington reflected the “country unit” of traditional planatation society, but was much less isolated, nearly an “urban plantation”—at the juncture of roads from Georgetown, Alexandria and new US capital
CXLIX  Coulling, Lee Girls

--Arlington symbolizes family circle

187/  Mildred recalls Arlington as the “Kingdom of my Childhood”; values gracious hospitality, carefully nurtured family ties, traditional social conservatism of the antebellum household.

CCCXXXIV
Chaney, Duty Most Sublime

--related plantations—Goodwood

2/  Three winged brick mansion, federal style nearUupper Marlborough, Md.  Great oaken doors, built in 1790s by George Calvert.  Home to Charles Henry Carter and his seven children after 1830 (REL’s nephew and cousin—named after his two grandfathers)

13/  728 acre plantation—moved there abt the time Carter married Rosalie Eugenia Calvert; House originally the gift of Eugenia’s father, 42 slaves on estate

CCCXIV  Nolan, Lafayette in America Day by Day
--Lafayette at Arlington

254/  Friday, October 15, 1824:  In evening visits Mrs. Custis at Arlington [Washington Natl Jo, 10/15/24]

265/  Tuesday Dec. 7, 1824:  At Custis Mansion [La vasseur, II, p. 12]

267/  Wednesday, Jan. 5th, 1825:  dines at Arlington [GW Lafayette to GWP Custis, Jan. 3, 1825]

268/  Thursday, Jan. 6th, 1825, At Arlington

305/  Tuesday September 6, 1825:  Arlington House illuminated in honor of the birthday of Lafayette [RR Gurley to MFCC, Sept. 7, 1825, MCL-VHS] 

CXLIX  Coulling, Lee Girls

--boys room called “LafayetteRoom”

15/  Says boys room at Arlington called the “Lafayette room”

n.b.—if  Lafayette stayed overnight there, would have been night of January 5-6, 1825  
CDLXXXVIII Gordon, “Recollections of a Boyhood in Georgetown”

--Mexican War memories/Arlington Spring

128-29/  Remembers Mexican War—negroes though crows came from the south where they had been feasting on bodies—well remembers “the volunteers, clad in their light blue uniforms and caps….They generally crossed the river over the aquaduct [check spelling] bridge and were entertained by George Washington Parke Custis at the great spring on his Arlington estate.”
VI Zimmer, Housekeeping Book

--Dining at Arlington:  quire of pancakes

121/  Mildred sent a recipe for “a Quire of Paper Pancakes” to a Va fund raising cookbook.  Said it was “an old-fashioned Virginia receipt, which we used to use at Arlington.”  (Is word for word from Mary Randolph’s Virginia Housewife.)

VI Zimmer, Housekeeping Book

--cookstove at Arlington

101/  Custises installed a cookstove at Arlington in 1830—well before fashion

J. Horace Lacy, “Lee at Fredericksburg,” Battles and Leaders  

-on losing Arlington
213-15/  Story of REL at Chatham during battle of Fredericksburg:  says from his headquarters looks across at Chatham, which was occupied by Union soldiers—tells him to shell it—then reportedly tells him of the courtship of his wife under the trees and says:

“There is nothing so grand in vegetable nature as a tree.”  Greatly moved and says 300 acres of woodland at Arlington, marked with his own hand every tree to be used for timber or fuel—“They tell me all my trees  are gone—yours are all gone”—then said “with all the majesty of his sublime presence’ –“Major, they have our trees; they shall never have the land!”

Years later author visits at Washington College and tells the story to MCL who, he says bursts into tears—as he reached the concluding sentence “They shall never have the land,” saw the general “who had silently entered in dressing gown and slippers.  The great buckshot drops rolled slowly down that face, whose calm was never broken by the earthquake shock of battle.  Slowly and silently he retired and I could but feel the deepest compunction that words of mine should have sent another pang through that great heart.  For then, looking up from the hell of carpetbag Reconstruction, we verily though that trees, land, country, liberty had all gone forever.”  

CXLIX  Coulling, The Lee Girls

--MCK homesick for Arlington

163/  MCL homesick in Lexington for “the sweet spring…& all the early flowers in bloom”—made her miss Arlington.   “I feel as a stranger & exile always looking forward to some change in my condition.” 
178/  MCL to Mrs. Richardson, 10 June [1868], MoC:  “The longing I have to revisit it [Arlington] is almost more than I can endure.”
Nelligan, “Old Arlington”

--first soldiers buried at Arlington

491, n. 62:  May 13, 1864, soldier from the 67th Pa., Private William Christman, was buried at Arlington.  L. Reinhart of the 23rd NC (Confederate) was buried a few days later.  Decker and McSween list Reinhart as the first soldier, but records of  Original Interments, Arlington National Cemetery lists Christman as having died May 11 and been buried in grave #1; L. Reinhart, Rebel, listed as No. 1 in a later register.  He died May 17.  Evidence that there were burials by Wisconsin regiments posted at Arlington in 1861-62.   
ARLINGTON KITCHEN GARDEN

MFC to GWPC, 1832,  [date?  Provenance?]

--currants

“Could you not send Mary some currants by the next boat—You have no idea of the scarcity of fruit here?  Black raspberries are selling at 18 cts a lb.

“…he could fill it with currants and….”

MCL to MFC, Old Point, “Friday”, n.d. [1833], REL-DU

--food sent from Arlington garden:  artichokes/carrots/apples
 “…ask Nurse if she put up any artichokes for me.  I do not mention them because I want them but to satisfy myself that they were not lost, s they have not come to hand.  I find a good supply of carrots & apples in the barrel with the hams.”

MCL to MFC, Fort Hamilton, June 13, 1845, DE-LC

--preserves/gooseberries

“I am glad to hear of the gooseberries but do not trouble yourself to make preserves for me as I shall be able to make some for myself this summer.”
REL To MCL, Fort Hamilton, N.Y., 3 May 1846, DE-LC

--Ephraim’s garden/ REL’s vegetable garden in Fort Hamilton:  cauliflower/peas/beans/ potatoes/ snaps, okra/ tomatoes/ corn/ eggplant

Says his garden is flourishing and thinks it is as forward “as Ephraim’s”

“The cauliflowers are beginning to flower.  The peas, beans, potatoes, snaps, growing finely & the other vegetables up.  The tomatoes are looking very well, the ockra [sic] is sprouting, corn up, but it is rather soon to set out the eggplant.” 
REL to ACL, San Antonio, Texas, 16 June 1860, DE-LC

-- Arlington luxuries:  strawberries/ raspberries
“Eat plenty of strawberries for me Annie & raspberries with cold cream.  We do not indulge in such trivial amusements here, & ice is abhorrent to our taste….”
MCL to ACL, n.d. [July 1860], LFP-VHS

--mushrooms (bought) and tomatoes

“Have plenty of catsup made.  If there are no bottles Nurse can buy half a dozen champagnes.  They ought not to be more than 4 cts. A piece & all the old salad oil bottles will answer for that.  Have some mushrooms got.  Nurse knows how to make that.  Will take one of the India rubber rings that belong to the screw cans—lay it down & cut an exact pattern & I will try & get some for there are none in the district  You can just lay one down in your next letter & draw the pattern & I can cut it out.  If the tomatoes will hold out you can leave those that are to be put up in cans till my return but old George can make the catsup any time.  See all bottles that are thrown…about collect & let Charles clean them for catsup & charge old George to let it boil for five or six hours….”

W[illiam] B Sprague to MCL, Albany, June 6, 1866, MCL-VHS (section 25)

--incidents of MCL girlhood: tutor’s visit; parents; religion; Arlington
Sprague was a tutor at Woodlawn, home Nelly Custis Lewis.”I scarcely suppose it possible that you would have any recollection of me, though my remembrance of you is as vivid almost as if but a single year had passed since I saw you....I never hear of Mrs General Lee without thinking of the germ of that lady, which I used to know in little Mary Custis.  You were a little bit of a girl then—I do not know exactly how old, but you will know when I tell you that it was in the winter of 1815-16.  Of your father I have very pleasant and distinct recollections, but no one in the whole circle has left upon my mind a more enduring or grateful impression than your excellent mother.  I remember how gentle and obliging and considerate and conscientious she was in everything. I had myself then just made a profession of religion by joining old Dr.Muir’s church [the Old Presbyterian Church] in Alexandria; and I well remember to have been struck with the deep interest she manifested in every thing (2) like personal and spiritual religion.  I do not remember whether your father’s family attended church generally at Georgetown or Alexandria, but on one of the two or three Sabbaths that I spent at Arlington, I recollect our going down the hill and crossing over the river to Georgetown, and attending at a church where Mr Addison, a thin, pale faced man, preached; and after service we went to Mr Peter’s, where we dined with several members of Congress, among them was Timothy Pickering of Massachusetts....My two pupils (Lorenzo and Agnes, whom we used to call Lolen and Fal) accompanied me to Arlington, though I do not remember that there was any studying done during the visit, as I think the object was merely to have ‘a good time.’ Angela (little Ped) too, I think, must have been along, as she was so young that her mother would scarcely have left her at home.  I remember perfectly the little room in which I slept, and if that part of the house remains unchanged, I am almost certain that I could go directly to it.  Indeed all the surroundings of the place, as it then was, are perfectly familiar to me.”   

A[nna] M[aria] F[itzhugh] to MCL(d), Ravensworth, Sept 20th 1870, MCL-VHS (section 35)

--Arlington looking spruce post war/new roof, painting/flowers

“Violet has been to Arlington recently, & brought very pleasant accounts from the servants.  There is a new Capt. There, & he & his wife are very kind to them—She tells them she knows yr mother very well, & lived near her in RIchd is a Southern woman—related to Mosby....they were repairing the house—new roofing, painting, & cleaning generally--& Violet says she never saw it looking prettier—a grand profusion of flowers both in garden & Greenhouse.”

VI Zimmer, Housekeeping Book

--vegetables at Arlington before war
218/  Elizabeth Calvert on Arlington vegetables:  “There is pleasure…in a dish of asparagus just from the earth white tender & sweet….There is joy…in the young peas that know no pause between the gathering, & being placed upon the table, young, green, sweet & buttery:  And what emotions of delight green corn that is fifteen minutes from the stock [sic], & fifteen minutes in the pot inspire.” 

In Notebook  (Filed under “Arlington”)
--ACL to MCW, n.d. [note says c. 1838—but Annie was not yet born!—more likely Spring, 1858] TPA
--GWPC to “Dearest Wife and Daughter, 10th Sept 1839, TPA
--GWPC to “Dearest Wife and Daughter, 16th Sept. 1839, AHA
--REL to My dearest Mother, Baltimore 22 June 1850, TPA

--Excerpt from MCW diary, Nov. 2, 1853, AHA

--“Arlington House, The Seat of G.W.P.Custis”, Harper’s New Monthly Magazine, September 1853
--Henry Lunt to GWPC, Boston, January 3, 1856, TPA

-- Torrence, Clayton, ed.  “Arlington and Mount Vernon 1856, As Described in a Letter of Augusta Blanche Berard,” Virginia Magazine of History and Biography , Vol. 57, No. 2 (April 1949)
--ACL to Helen Bratt, Arlington, February, 10, 1858, typescript, LFP-WL

--Censes of 1850 and 1860 pertaining to Custis Lands

--“Arlington House:  A Brief History of the House & a Lee Chronology”

--“George Washington Parke Custis, Colonel United States Army; Arlington House Builder” (Arlington Cemetery)
--Excerpt from Ecker, Grace Dunlop [Peter].  A Portrait of Old Georgetown (girls signaling with petticoats)
--MCL quoted in excerpt from Holloway, The Ladies of the White House, II: 58

--“Arlington in Between:  From Plantation Estate to National Cemetery

--“Arlington House at Arlington national Cemetery” (Arlington Cemetery)

(Filed Under “Custis”)

--Mary Lee Fitzhugh to “My dear Washington” [Custis], “Thursday night” [c. 1803 or 1804], typescript, AHA

--Article from Spirit of Seventy-Six, May 3, 1811 (‘Little Arlington Ram is again cutting his capers….”)

--Articles from National Intelligencer, August 21, 1824 and September 4, 1824 on Washington Relics at Arlington

--MFC to CCL, Arlington, March 17, 1825, typescript, CL-LC (thanks for moss rose bush)

--CCL to BHH, New York, April 19th, 1831, CCL-UVa, microfilm CCL-LoV

--CCL to BHH, Ravensworth, April 15th, 1832, CCL-UVa, microfilm CCL-LoV

--CCL to BHH, Springs Camp,  May 23rd, 1836, CCL-UVa, microfilm CCL-LoV

--Anna Maria Fitzhugh to CCL, Alexa, November 30th 1840, typescript, 607 Oronoco Street vertical file, BLA

Benson Lossing to GWPC, December 7, 1852, TPA

--Obituary of Mary Lee Custis (MFC), Alexandria Gazette, n.d. [1853], tupescript, 607 Oronoco Street vertical file, BLA 

--Franklin Pierce to GWPC, Washington, April 5, 1854, TPA

--Joseph Henry to GWPC, Washington, Nov. 21, 1854, TPA

--Jared Sparks to GWPC, Cambridge, Jany 11 1855, TPA

--M[ontogmery] C Meigs to GWPC, Washington, Jan. 19th, 1856, TPA

--Excerpt from MCW diary, June 3, 1856, typescript, AHA (on GWPC dress) 

--Rembrant Peale to GWPC,  Philada, Aug. 20, 1857, TPA

MCL to REL, Sunday the 11th October [1857], DE-LC

J Augustus Johnson to GWPC, Weverton, Frederick County Maryland, April 29, 1857, TPA (on sheet with Lossing letter)

--Will of GWPC, from CXXXV  Decker and Mc Sween.  Historic Arlington, pp. 80-81
MCL to [Benson Lossing],  Arlington, 11th February [c. 1859], AHA

--Excerpt on GWPC from John Hill Hewitt, Shadows on the Wall or Glimpses of the Past, (discusses 1840s, published 18770, pp. 90-93 
--Description of GWPC from CXXXV  Decker and Mc Sween.  Historic Arlington

--Murray H. Nelligan, “American Nationalism on the Stage, the Plays of George Washington Parke Custis,” (unpublished MS),1949

Notebook Under “Lee Boyhood”

--Rose, Ruth, excerpt from “Growing Up a Lee”

Notebook—During War
--Sneden Diary excerpts, 1861-65/ with images, Sneden Papers, VHS

--Union army Arlington slave passes, c. 1861, MCL-VHS

--Irwin McDowell to Mrs. [Mary Custis] Lee, Arlington, 30 May 1861, typescript, AHS

--Edward Pearson to mother, Camp Princeton, Columbia Springs, Va., June 5, 1861, {with hand drawn map of Arlington} NJHS 

-- Edward Pearson to Aunt Henrietta, Camp Princeton, Va., June 15, 1861, NJHS

--MCL to dear frined,  White House, March 8th [1862], typescript, (ALS)Stratford Hall

--MCL to Markie [Martha Custis Williams], n.p., May 26th, 1862, Tudor Place 

--MCL to Selina Powell, Richmond, 30th October 1862, copy, AHS
--Description of Arlington, 1863, from Edward Dicey, Spectator of America
--C.F. Lee to Philip Fendall, Gulph, 27 Nov/ 63 with notation in Fendall’s hand proposing that it would not be convenient or him to pay taxes on Arlington, Philip R. Fendall Papers, Duke
In Notebook—Post-War
--MCL to dear Sir, Lexington 12th Sept 1866, typescript, LFP-VHS

--REL to John A. Simkins, Lexington, Va:  10 Jany 1867, copy in another  hand, REL letterbook, #4, LFP-VHS

--REL to Hugh McCulloch, November 1867, typescript LFP-WL

--Cassius Lee to MCL, Menoken, Jany 18/71, MCL-VHS

--Newspaper clip, “Mrs. Lee at Arlington,” no paper given, n.d. [1873], in Telfar Family Papers, GHS

Observations

--Arlington—ideal of Christian home—ahead of the trend of religiousity for Washington, but also a refuge from change; self-consciousness seems to have been in GWPC, not MFC, whose steadfast personality seems to have been unswerving in the face of  societal whim

--Arlington, evoked heart and feelings and deep sympathies—verbal bouquets by prominent people

--Talk about development of museums in America—no great municipal or private collections—early Charles Willson Peale and Catlin, but few other collections; GWPC pioneer using objects to evoke history

--With Custis’s active “national” social life near Washington and instant connections, yet real southern traditions, Arlington showed a nearly unique (perhaps together with Tudor Place) situation in Southern history

--The enthusiasm and personal knowledge of GWPC keeps Arlington from being a drear reliquary.  In years before completion of the Washington Monument or the preservation of Mount Vernon as a national shrine, this was the memorial to Washington.  Presages these and the Smithsonian Institution.  Custis understood the appeal of the tangible, symbols of  history and heroes—helped people to identify with their past and to personalize the struggle that had led them to liberty.

--Great punch bowl by Thomas Truxton, 1795 “Defender” is now in Mount Vernon museum

--Arlington was a long time being build, but path-breaking in conception.  Prevailing style in the early 1800s was still Georgian.  E.G. building of Riversdale.  GWPC aligned himself with the grand neo-classical plans across the river—hiring Hadfield the fired architect of the Capitol.  The antebellum ideal of white pillars, a commanding view, and the sweet tradition of an optimistic grandeur could very well be said to have begun at Arlington.  How much did Mount Vernon, with its white columns and river view, hospitality, etc. influence GWPC?  GWPC at least carried it to a grander level.

Others had contained elements of this tradition—e.g. Monticello but should check to see if there are any earlier grand neo-classical domestic structures
